
Report to the New York Stock Exchange 
on Investigation Relating to the 

Compensation of Richard A. Grasso 

DAN K. WEBB 
WINSTON & STRAWN LLP 

DECEMBER 15,2003 

Note
This Report has been excerpted and annotated by the Committee of Concerned Shareholders.  Please visit our website --- http://www.ConcernedShareholders.com --- for information concerning corporate Director lack of accountability



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

TABLE OF CONTENTS ............................................................................................................................... i 

. ....................................................... 1 INTRODUCTION: SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION AND REPORT 1 

I1 . EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF FINDINGS ............................................................................................. 2 

Grasso Received Unreasonable Levels of Compensation and Benefits ..................................... 2 

P Excessive Compensation ................................................................................................... 2 

P Excessive Benefits ............................................................................................................. 2 

Grasso's Excessive Compensation and Benefits Were the Result of a Multi-Flawed 
Executive Compensation Process .............................................................................................. 3 

............... P Failure to Adequately Design. Monitor. and Oversee Grasso's SEW Benefits 3 

............... P Faulty Mechanics/Process Used to Determine Grasso's Yearly Compensation 4 

P Lack of Appropriate Involvement of Consultants in Connection with Grasso's 
Compensation and Benefits ............................................................................................... 4 

P Lack of Transparency/Disclosures Regarding Compensation ........................................... 4 

............................... P Lack of ContinuityIDedication on Compensation CommitteeBoard 5 

P Grasso's Control Over the People and Processes that Determined His Compensation .... 5 

The Approval of Grasso's 2003 Employment Contract Was Based on Incomplete and 
................................... Inaccurate Information and Was Made Without Adequate Deliberation 5 

Grasso's Excessive Compensation and Benefits Have Had a Detrimental Impact on the 

111 . SUMMARY OF INFORMATION GATHERED IN THE INVESTIGATION ..................................... 7 

A . Overview of Grasso's Compensation and Benefits at the NYSE ............................................. 7 

............................................................................ 1 . Grasso's NYSE Employment Pre-1995 7 

............................... 2 . Grasso's Employment Contracts as Chairman and CEO, 1995-2003 7 

a . 1995 Contract ............................................................... : ........................................... 7 

b . 1999 Contract ........................................................................................................... 8 

c . 2003 Contract ........................................................................................................... 9 

3 . Components of Grasso's Compensation and Benefits .................................................... 10 

......................................................................................................... a . Compensation 10 

......................................................................................................... (i) Salary 10 

......................................................... (ii) Incentive Compensation Plan ("ICP") 11 

(iii) Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan ("LTIP") ................................... 12 

........................................................... (iv) Capital Accumulation Plan ("CAP") 13 
.. ................................................................................... (v) "Special Payments 15 



....................................................... (vi) Grasso's Total Compensation By Year 16 

. b Benefits ................................................................................................................... 16 

........................ (i) Employee Savings Plan ("Savings Plan" or "401(k) Plan") 16 

........................................ (ii) Supplemental Executive Savings Plan ("SESP") 17 

................................................................................ (iii) NYSE Retirement Plan 17 

................................... (iv) Supplemental Executive Retirement PIan ("SERP") 18 

(v) Other Benefits .............................................................................................. 21 

................. (vi) Total Accumulated (Retirement) Benefits as of August 7. 2003 22 

B . Process By Which Grasso's Annual Compensation Was Determined During His Tenure 
........................................................................................ as Chairman and CEO of the NYSE 22 

1 . Overview of Annual W S E  Compensation Process as to Grasso ................................... 22 

.............................................. 2. Sources of Information for the Compensation Committee 23 

a . NYSE Human Resources Department .................................................................... 23 

..................................................................................... b . Compensation Consultants 24 

3 . Information Considered by the Compensation Committee in Determining Grasso's 
..................................................................................................... Annual Compensation 24 

........................................................................ a . Prior Grasso Compensation Levels 24 

b . Performance of the NYSE ..................................................................................... 25 

(i) ICP Performance Evaluation Process Generally ......................................... 25 

(ii) Objective or Empirical Performance Criteria .............................................. 25 

(iii) Chairman's Award ...................................................................................... 28 

(iv) AccuracyNalidity of Annual ICP Performance Determinations ................. 29 

(v) Performance of Grasso Apart from ICP Performance Evaluation 
Process ......................................................................................................... 30 

c . Market InformatiodPeer Group Data ................................................................. 31 

(i) The Comparator Group ................................................................................ 31 

(ii) Comparator Group Data . Actual or Target Median .................................... 37 

(iii) Other "Market" Information ................................................ ....................... 38 

d . Benchmarking Grasso's Compensation .................................................................. 39 

(i) Benchmarking for Compensation Years 1995-1998 .................................... 39 

................................... (ii) Benchmarking for Compensation Years 1999-2000 39 

................................... (iii) Benchmarking for Compensation Years 2001-2002 40 

e . Other InformatiodConsiderations .......................................................................... 41 

(i) Retention of Grasso ..................................................................................... 41 

(ii) Equity Component for Grasso ..................................................................... 41 



.............................................. . 4 Compensation Committee Meetings and Board Meetings 42 

a . Meetings Between Individual Compensation Committee Members and 
NYSE Human Resources Staff ............................................................................... 42 

b . Compensation Committee Meetings ...................................................................... 45 

............................ (i) General Process of Compensation Committee Meetings 45 

.......... (ii) Yearly Compensation Committee Decisional Meetings, 1996-2003 46 

c . Board Meetings: Recommendation by Compensation Committee to Board 
and Board Vote ....................................................................................................... 56 

The Process By Which Grasso's Pension Benefits Accumulated During His Tenure as  
Chairman and CEO of the NYSE ............................................................................................ 58 

The Negotiation and Execution of Grasso's Employment Contracts ...................................... 61 

1 . 1995 Contract .......................................................................................................... 1 ....... 61 

2 . 1999 Contract .................................................................................................................. 62 

3 . 2003Contract .................................................................................................................. 64 

Summer 2002: Initial Discussions Regarding New Contract ................................. 64 

September 23. 2002 Compensation Committee Meeting ....................................... 65 

September 24. 2002 to October 2. 2002 ................................................................. 67 

October 3. 2002 Compensation Committee Meeting ............................................. 68 

October 4. 2002 to October 17. 2002 ..................................................................... 70 

(i) Late January to Early February .................................................................... 71 

(ii) February 6. 2003 Committee Meeting ......................................................... 71 

Late FebruaryMarch 2003 ..................................................................................... 73 

(i) Mercer Analysis and Report ........................................................................ 73 

(ii) Meetings with Compensation Committee Members ................................... 75 

(iii) Vedder Price's Role in Preparing for the March 28. 2003 Committee 
........................................................................................... Conference Call 75 

(iv) Postponement of the March 28. 2003 Committee Conference Call and 
Consideration By the Board of the Proposal at the April 4. 2003 Board 

........................................................................................................ Meeting 76 

June 2003 ................................................................................................................ 77 

(i) June 5, 2003 ............................................................................................. i ... 77 

(ii) June 12, 2003 .............................................................................................. 78 

(iii) June 24, 2003 ............................................................................................... 78 

July 2003 ................................................................................................................ 79 

(i) Phone Calls By McCall to Board Members ............. .. ............................... 79 



.................................................................................................. (ii) July 7. 2003 79 

................................................................................................ (iii) July 14. 2003 79 

(iv) July 29, 2003 ............................................................................................... 82 

Late July 2003 to August 6, 2003 ........................................................................... 82 

(i) Conversations Between and Among Directors ............................................ 83 

............................... (ii) Conversations Between Grasso and Various Directors 83 

..................................................... (iii) Grasso Decides to Put the Proposal Off 84 

........................................................................................................ August 7, 2003 84 

(i) Compensation Committee Meeting ............................................................. 85 

(ii) Interval Between Compensation Committee Meeting and Board 
Meeting ........................................................................................................ 86 

(iii) Board Meeting ............................................................................................. 87 

August 8, 2003 to August 27, 2003 ........................................................................ 89 

........................................................................................... (i) August 12, 2003 89 

(ii) August 13, 2003 to August 26, 2003 ........................................................... 90 

(iii) August 27, 2003 ........................................................................................... 91 

September 2003 ...................................................................................................... 92 

(i) Early September .......................................................................................... 92 

(ii) September 5, 2003 ....................................................................................... 92 

....................................................................................... (iii) September 8, 2003 93 

(iv) Directors' Reactions to the $48 Million in Future Payments ...................... 93 

September 9, 2003 .................................................................................................. 94 

................................................................................................ September 17, 2003 95 

(i) Scheduling of the September 17 Board Meeting ......................................... 95 

(ii) Board Meeting ............................................................................................. 95 

E . The Structure/Functional Operation of the NYSE as It Relates to Issues Regarding 
Grasso's Compensation ........................................................................................................... 96 

1 . Board Appointments ....................................................................................................... 96 

2 . Compensation Committee Appointments ....................................................................... 98 

3 . Compensation of Certain Other NYSE Employees ......................................................... 99 

a . Compensation Levels of Johnston, Britz, and Kinney ........................................... 99 

b . Large 2001 Award to Johnston ............................................................................. 100 

c . Grass0 Support Staff .......................................................................................... 101 

4 . NYSE Charitable Contributions ................................................................................... 101 

a . The Foundation ..................................................................................................... 102 



.............................................................................. b . The Contributions Committee 104 

...... c . Charitable Contributions to Organizations Aff~liated With NYSE Directors 105 

N . ANALYSIS OF THE REASONABLENESS OF THE LEVELS OF GRASSO'S 
COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS ........................................................................................... 107 

A . Overview of Expert Review and Analysis ......................................................................... 107 

........................ B . Analysis of Grasso's Benefits ....................................................................... 1 108 

C . Analysis of Grasso's Annual Compensation ......................................................................... 111 

D . Grasso's Compensation and Benefits Considered Jointly .................................................. 113 

E . Overcompensation of Others ................................................................................................. 113 

V . ANALYSIS OF THE FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO GRASSO'S UNREASONABLE 
LEVELS OFCOMPENSATION AND BENEFITS ..................................................................... 114 

Failure to Adequately Design. Monitor. and Oversee Grasso's SEW Benefits .................... 114 

Faulty Mechanics/Process Used to Determine Grasso's Annual Compensation ................... 115 

1 . Inappropriate Comparator Group ............................................................................ 116 

2 . Incomplete Data and Faulty Benchmarking .................................................................. 116 

3 . Capricious Upward Adjustments From Already Inflated Benchmarks ......................... 118 

Lack of Appropriate Involvement of Consultants in Connection with Grasso's 
Compensation and Benefits ............................................................................................. 118 

Lack of Transparency/Disclosures Regarding Compensation ............................................... 119 

Lack of Continuity on Compensation CommitteeBoard ....................................................... 119 

Grasso's Control Over the People and Processes that Determined His Compensation ......... 120 

VI . ANALYSIS OF THE EVENTS CONCERNING THE APPROVAL OF GRASSO'S 2003 
CONTRACT .................................................................................................................................... 1 2 1  

A . Inadequate Process/Deliberation for the Decision ................................................................. 121 

.......... B . Failure to Disclose the $48 Million in Scheduled Future Payments to the Full Board 121 

C . Misinformation About the $139.5 Million Payout ................................................................ 123 

............................... D . Misleading Information About Approval By Consultants and Lawyers 123 

E . Failure to Condition Approval on Review of Written Contract ............................................ 124 

VII . IMPACT ON THENYSE CAUSED BY GRASSO'S EXCESSNE LEVELS OF 
COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS ......................................................................................... 125 

A . Detrimental Effect on the NYSE's Financial Abilitl, to Serve Its Purposes .......................... 125 

B . Detrimental Effect on the NYSE's Brand and Goodwill ....................................................... 126 

C . Detrimental Effect on the NYSE as a Result of Having to Spend Its Resources on Matters 
Relating to Grasso's Overcompensation ................................................................................ 127 



\%INSTOW & S n u w  I.LF 

Privileged u d  Coniidentiul Report ort lnwstigurh~n Kduriag fo ihc 
Amn?w?Kiienr Priileged Coin[?cn.suti~~~r NfRichartl A. Gr~~sso  
A Z ~ W N ~ I ;  Wui-k Product 

I. INTRODUCTION: 
SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION AND REPORT 

On September 23, 2003, the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. ("NYSE") retained Dan K. Webb and 
Winston & Strawn LLP to investigate the facts and circumstances relating to the compensation and 
benefits awarded by the NYSE to Richard A. Grasso during his tenure as Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of the NYSE between 1995 and 2003. 

We specifically were asked to investigate the process and reasons behind the levels of compensation and 
benefits awarded to Grasso during the period 1995-2003, and to examine the facts and circumstances 
surrounding Grasso's employment contract executed on August 27, 2003, pursuant to which Grasso 
received a payout in September 2003 of approximately $139.5 million in deferred compensation and 
benefits and was to receive additional scheduled payments of about $48 million in deferred compensation 
and benefits from 2004 through 2007. We also were asked to determine whether the levels of Grasso's 
compensation and benetits during this period were reasonable, and what effects these levels of 
compensation and benefits had on the NYSE. We were asked to complete our inquiry into these matters 
(the "Investigation") in approximately two months and prepare a written report summarizing our findings. 

We began our investigation on September 24 and completed it during the second week of December. In 
connection with the Investigation, we conducted more than sixty interviews and gathered and reviewed 
thousands of pages of documents. Those we interviewed included Grasso, members of the NYSE's 
Human Resources Policy and Compensation Committee ("Compensation Committee" or "Committee") 
during Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO, members of the NYSE's Board of Directors ("Board") at 
the time the Board approved Grasso's 2003 employment contract on August 7,2003, various NYSE staff 
involved in the NYSE compensation process and related issues, and various outside consultants and 
lawyers who were involved in the NYSE's compensation process. Attached as Exhibits 2 and 3 are a list 
of the witnesses interviewed and a list of the Board and Committee members from 1995-2003. 

To assist in analyzing issues relating to Grasso's compensation, we retained the services of three 
respected experts in the area of executive compensation: Alan M. Johnson of Johnson Associates, Inc.; 
Fredenc W. Cook of Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc.; and Brian T. Foley of Brian Foley & Co., Inc. Each 
provided expert analysis supporting the fmdings and analysis in this Report regarding Grasso's 
compensation. 

This Report summarizes the relevant information regarding Grasso's compensation and benefits that we 
have learned in the course of our Investigation.' In addition, we have set forth an analysis of whether the 
levels of Grasso's compensation and benefits were reasonable, which is supported by the analysis of our 
compensation experts. We also have provided an analysis of the reasons and factors that contributed to 
the levels of Grasso's compensation and benefits, as well a s  a brief summary of the impact of the levels of 
Grasso's compensation on the NYSE. Finally, we have provided some recommendations for changes in 
the NYSE's compensation process. 

I Whlle many whom we requested to interview were interviewed and provided information, we were unable to interview 
fanner ComnuUee member Linda Wachner due to scheduling issues. Other witnesses imposed time constraints or 
other limitations on interviews or refused to answer certain questions, limiting to some extent the information we were 
able to gather. n u s ,  there were certain practical and Legal limitations on the investigation, including the inability to 
compel witnesses, including third partles, to answer questions or produce documents. 



II. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

Grasso Received Unreasonable Levels of Compensation and Benefits 

During his tenure as Chairman and CEO of the NYSE, Grasso received excessive levels of compensation 
and benefits, far beyond reasonable levels. In total, Grasso received approximately $144.5 million to 
$156.7 million in excessive compensation and benefits. Attached as Exhibit 1 is a chart showing the 
excess compensation and benefits. 

> Excessive Compensation 

For the eight-year period from 1995-2002, Grasso received more than $97.8 million in annual 
compensation, approximately $81.5 million of which was awarded for the four years from 1999-2002. 
Even assuming that Grasso performed at a consistently outstanding level during this 'period, his 
compensation was more than double what was reasonable in this four-year period. Grasso's total in 
excess annual compensation was approximately $43 .I million. 

For the years 2000 and 2001, Grasso's compensation was grossly excessive, approximately three to four 
times what was reasonable. In those years, his annual compensation reached approximately $26.8 million 
and $30.6 million, respectively. A conservative estimate of what Grasso's yearly compensation should 
have been in this period is $4-6 million, based on the median level of an appropriate peer group. Even 
assuming outstanding performance by Grasso, a generous annual compensation level would have been in 
the range of about $8-9 million. Grasso's compensation level was several times that amount for 2000 and 
2001. 

B Excessive Benefits 

The level of benefits that Grasso accumulated during this period was excessive by any reasonable 
standard. By August 2003, before his 2003 employment contract was approved or executed, Grasso's 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP") benefit translated into a lifetime annuity of at least 
$7.4 million per year, and could have been substantially higher than that depending on various factors. 
This translated into a total lump sum present value pension benefit in August 2003 of about $126.4 
million. About $82.9 million of these pension benefits accumulated in the last four years. 

Grasso's total level of pension benefits was several times more than what a reasonable pension would 
have been. Applying appropriate executive compensation analysis and benchmarldng criteria, an 
appropriate pension for Grasso would have been in a range of about $875,000 per year, which would 
translate into a lump-sum pension benefit of about $12.8 million. Even under the most favorable analysis 
and assumptions, Grasso's pension should not have exceeded an annuity of about $2.1 million or a lump 
sum of more than $25 million. Accordingly, under his employment contracts with the NYSE, Grasso 
accumulated total excess pension benefits of between $101.4 million and $1 13.6 million. 

Large portions of Grasso's accumulated pension benefits were paid out to Grasso on three separate 
occasions while Grasso remained employed at the NYSE. First, in June 1995, in connection with the 
negotiation of his first employment contract as Chairman and CEO, Grasso asked for and received his 
total accumulated SEW benefits as ofthat date, a total of about $6.6 million. 



 



and consider the benefits to which such executives are entitled and monitor their accumulation of SERP 
benefits. 

9 Faulty MechanicslProcess Used to Determine Grasso's Yearly Compensation 

The process by which Grasso's annual compensation was determined was flawed in many respects. The 
Compensation Committee used an inappropriate comparator group for benchmarking Grasso's 
compensation levels, comparing Grasso to CEOs of large, profit-making institutions that are vastly 
different from the NYSE. Such organizations are much larger than the NYSE in numerous key respects 
including revenue, net income, number of employees, assets, and other factors, making them 
inappropriate companies to use in benchmarking Grasso's compensation. The Committee also obtained 
only incomplete data about the comparator group it used and then used that data in unconventional ways 
to create unreliable and inflated benchmarks for Grasso's compensation. Further, the Committee 
arbitrarily departed upwards f ~ o m  its own inflated benchmarks, in some years awarding Grasso more than 
twice those benchmarks. 

To address these problems, the NYSE Compensation Committee should reevaluate and improve its 
process for benchmarking executive compensation, and should have consultants play a more substantive 
role in the executive compensation process. 

9 Lack of Appropriate Involvement of Consultants in Connection with Grasso's 
Compensation and Benefits 

The consultants employed by the Compensation Committee did not have the appropriate level of 
involvement in, or input regarding, the compensation and benefits process. Consultants performed no 
analysis of Grasso's SERP benefits accumulation to examine whether it was reasonable or consistent with 
the market, and did not analyze whether Grasso's contractual SEW benefits, or the NYSE's SEW, 
should be subject to caps or other limitations so that the benefits remained at reasonable levels. 

The consultants also were not sufficiently involved in, and therefore did not attempt to correct, the flawed 
process employed by the Committee in making its annual compensation decisions for Grasso, including 
the Committee's use of an inappropriate comparator group and faulty benchmarking formulas and the 
Committee's unreasonable compensation awards for Grasso that were well above the benchmarking in 
some years. 

As noted directly above, compensation experts should be more substantively involved in the executive 
compensation process at the NYSE. 

9 Lack of TransparencylDisclosures Regarding Compensation 

Only a handful of people knew about Grasso's pension accumulation, and Grasso's compensation awards 
were not disclosed outside the Board. Many Board members agreed that, had Grasso's compensation and 
benefit levels been disclosed outside the Board, they would never have reached such excessive levels. 
Annual disclosure of top executive compensation, which the NYSE already has implemented under its 
newly adopted corporate governance practices, should address this issue. 



> Lack of ContinuitylDedication on Compensation CornrnitteelBoard 

The NYSE's large Board during Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO, coupled with the high level of 
turnover of Board and Committee members from year to year and the failure to adequately train and share 
historical NYSE knowledge with new Board and Committee members, may have created an environment 
that was conducive to overcompensation. The high turnover and lack of training caused a lack of 
continuity on the Committee and the Board, which resulted in Board and Committee members not having 
a complete frame of reference for executive compensation decisions. The large Board led to at least some 
on the Board feeling less responsibility or less accountability for executive compensation decisions, and 
caused them to give complete deference to others on those matters. 

The smaller NYSE Board created after Grasso resigned should be helpful in addressing this issue. In 
addition, going fonuard, close attention should be paid to training new Board and Committee members 
and providmg them with important historical information relating to executive compensation. 

> Grasso's Control Over the People and Processes that Determined His 
Compensation 

Against proper governance practice, Grasso was involved in or connected to the process that determined 
his own compensation. For example, he personally selected which Board members served on the 
Compensation Committee, and some directors he selected were those with whom he had friendships or 
personal relationships. He also had a strong influence on who was appointed to the Board, which 
approved the compensation awards that the Committee recommended for him each year. In addition, 
Grasso determined, in his discretion, the "Chairman's Award" component of the annual NYSE 
performance evaluation process, which the Committee used in part to determine the annual bonus awards 
for NYSE employees generally, as well as to benchmark Grasso's own compensation. 

The issues concerning selection of Board members and Committee members have now largely been 
addressed through the newly revised structure of the NYSE's Board and Compensation Committee. The 
Chairman should not select members of the Compensation Committee. The Committee should adopt 
procedures by which, in the future, the "Chairman's Award" is not used directly to create benchmarks for, 
or actual awards of, the CEO's compensation. 

The Approval of Grasso's 2003 Employment Contract Was Based on 
Incomplete and Inaccurate Information and Was Made Without Adequate 
Deliberation 

Grasso's 2003 contract was approved by the Compensation Committee and the Board based on 
incomplete and maccurate information. Despite being presented with information to the contrary, a 
number of the Committee members who voted to recommend the 2003 contract to the Board incorrectly 
believed that the payout of approximately $139.5 million to Grasso under that contract resulted in 
terminating all of Grasso's future benefits under SERF' and the NYSE's Capital Accumulation Plan 
("CAP"). In fact, the contract provided for $48 million in scheduled future payments of SERP benefits, 
CAP benefits, and deferred compensation, and also provided that additional SERF' benefits could be paid 
out in the future under certain circumstances. 



The entire Committee also believed, incorrectly, that the $139.5 million payout to Grasso under the 
contract was fully vested. In fact, his right to approximately $13 million in CAP benefits that were part of 
the $139.5 million had not ye\ vested, and was not scheduled to vest until 2005. 

The Committee members failed to advise the Board of some of the essential terms of the proposed 
contract, including the $48 million in scheduled future payments under the contract, the potential 
additional SERP benefits that possibly could accrue under the new contract, and the payment of $13 
million in unvested CAP benefits. In fact, the Committee gave the Board contrary information, leading 
the Board to believe there were no future payments under the contract. 

Finally, neither the Committee nor the Board conditioned its approval of the proposed contract on an 
actual review of a written contract, which had not been drafted at the time the Board voted on the 
proposed contract. Instead, the Board approved of the proposed contract in concept based on unclear and 
incomplete term sheets and oral discussions. The contract ultimately was signed by the C o m t t e e  
Chairman without being fully reviewed. 

Grasso's Excessive Compensation and Benefits Have Had a Detrimental 
Impact on the NYSE 

Grasso's excessive levels of compensation and benefits have negatively affected the NYSE in at least 
three fundamental ways. First, the large amounts of excess conlpensation and benefits have had a 
negative impact on the NYSE's fmancial capability to serve its purposes. At the time of his resignation in 
September 2003, Grasso had been paid about $43.1 million in excessive compensation. Also as of that 
time, Grasso had received payments of more than $88 million in pension benefits (valued at $95.1 million 
with interest on earlier payments considered), and approximately $70.1 million to $82.3 million of that 
amount was excessive. Thus, Grasso received fiom the NYSE in the range of $113.2 million to $125.4 
million in excess compensation and pension benefits. The NYSE could have used that money to serve its 
interests and purposes in a variety of ways, including for the benefit of its members. its listed companies, 
or the investing public. 

Second, Grasso's excessive compensation and benefits have had a detrimental impact on the brand and 
goodwill of the NYSE. Unquestionably, the firestorm that has surrounded Grasso's excessive 
compensation and benefits has, to some extent, tarnished the reputation and image of the NYSE. As a 
result, the NYSE is now in the process of undertaking to rebuild the trust and confidence of members, 
investors and listed companies. 

Finally, as a result of the excessive compensation and benefits, the NYSE has been required to spend its 
resources dealing with this issue. NYSE employees and agents have been required to perform a variety of 
work that they otherwise would not have been required to perform had Grasso not been overcompensated, 
including being required to respond to an inquiry fiom the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
matters relating to Grasso's compensation. None of these corporate resources would have been spent in 
the absence of the overcompen~ation.~ 

2 There are a number of legal issues that the NYSE may wish to consider in light of our investigation and Repon. This 
Report, while providing a summary and analysis of the infomion and factsgathered in the investigation, does not 
directly address the legal issues relating to those facts or provide any legal advice or analysis on those issues. We will 
separately provide the NYSE with legal advice and analysis on issues that the NYSE wishes to consider relating to the 
matters addressed in this Report. 



Importantly, the notion of providing equity-type compensation to NYSE executives was part of the basis 
used to support the development and implementation of the LTIP and, later, the CAP. These programs 
provided to NYSE senior executives, including Grasso, additional bonuses/compensation (beyond their 
ICP awards) that were tied to longer-term senice and performance, like stock options. As opposed to 
stock options, which had risk, the LTIP and the CAP provided no-risk, deferred cash compensation that 
vested upon the executive attaining certain years of service or ages. 

In addition, the long-term or equity component of the comparator group executives' compensation was 
included in the actual and median target compensation levels of the comparator group that the 
Compensation Committee used in performing its benchmarking analysis each year. Most Committee 
members we i n t e ~ e w e d  who recalled the benchmarking process were aware that the actual and target 
medians incorporated the comparator group executives' equity type compensation on a Black-Scholes 
basis. Some, however, expressed criticism of the Black-Scholes methodology for valuing stock options 
and said that the options often have much greater value than the Black-Scholes methodology would 
suggest. 

4. Compensation Committee Meetings and Board Meetings 

As noted above, after Ashen and his staff pulled together the materials for the Compensation Committee 
to consider in making its compensation decisions for Grasso and other NYSE employees each year, a 
series of meetings took place in and around each February at which Grasso's compensation would be 
discussed and decided. First, Ashen ofien would meet individually with Committee members to share the 
information he had gathered, including the ICP evaluation for the year and the relevant comparator group 
compensation information. Second, the Compensation Committee would then hold its February meeting. 
Third, after the Committee meeting, the February Board meeting would be held. 

a. Meetings Between Individual Compensation Committee Members and NYSE 
Human Resources Staff 

After the materials were assembled for the Compensation Committee's decisions on compensation each 
year, and prior to the February Committee meeting at which yearly compensation decisions were made, 
Ashen would coordinate with the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and provide the materials to 
the Committee Chairman for his review. 

During the period from 1995-2003, the Committee Chairmen were as follows: 

June 1994 -May 1996: Stanley C. Gault 
June 1996 -May 1998: Ralph S. Larsen 
June 1998 -May 1999: Bernard Marcus 
June 1999 -May 2003: Kenneth G. Langone 

Ashen said that, typically before the Committee meetings each year, he met separately with the 
Committee members to present and discuss the relevant compensation materials. Almost all of the 
members of the Committee during the earlier years of Grasso's tenure did not recall having such meetings 
with Ashen. However, several (but not all) Committee members who served on the Committee in later 
years of Grasso's tenure (after about 1999) recalled having such meetings. 



Ashen said that, at these meetings, he typically would provide and discuss with Committee members the 
compensation materials that he and his staff had put together. He said that he did not send out those 
materials ahead of time to the Committee members, and would not leave copies of the materials with the 
Committee members, but instead would bring the materials to the. individual meetings, allow the 
Committee members to review them, and discuss any questions or issues that the Committee members 
raised with him. 

Ashen said that he would sit down for a half-hour to an hour with each Committee member and he would 
walk through the presentation that he would also make at the Committee meeting, which included: (1) 
what happened last year; (2) the NYSE's performance results for that year as shown by the ICP 
performance evaluation, including the performance factors, the Chairman's Award and a narrative of 
accomplishments; (3) the comparator group; (4) Grasso's recommendation on executive compensation; 
and (5) a discussion of Grasso's compensation. Again, while Ashen stated that he had these meetings 
with all or substantially all Committee members each year, many Committee members did not recall 
having such meetings with Ashen, especially prior to 1999. 

Beginning in February 1999 (for 1998 compensation), he provided the Committee members with 
executive compensation worksheets showing past compensation and benchmarking computations for 
Grasso, Johnston, Kinney and Britz, and the other top 3 4  senior executives. A separate worksheet was 
always included for Grasso, and usually the other employees each were the subject of separate worksheets 
as well, although sometimes certain similarly situated employees, such as Kinney and Britz, would be 
combined on a single worksheet.s6 

Ashen said that he first provided these worksheets to the Committee members during his individual 
meetings with them prior to the February Committee meeting. Ashen provided Grasso the executive 
compensation worksheets for the other senior executives in advance of Ashen's meetings with the 
individual Committee members so that Grasso could provide Ashen his views on the appropriate level of 
compensation for those executives and Ashen, in turn, could provide Grasso's recommendation on those 
individuals to the Committee members in his individual meetings with them. 

The executive compensation worksheets provided a chart showing the past compensation information for 
each of the employees, broken out by category (salary, ICP, LTIP), but typically for only the prior year 
(except in 2003, when the employees' two prior years of compensation were includedj. Although in some 
years CAP was listed as a separate category in the chart, in other years it was not, but instead was listed 
only as a footnote to the chart. 

The worksheets also listed the actual or target median for the comparator group executives whose job 
matched the position of the employee at the NYSE under consideration. In addition, the worksheets 
showed calculations applying the benchmarking formula used in that year, including the discount from 
the actual or target median and the multiplication of the discounted median by the percentage of target 
performance achieved by the NYSE that year, pursuant to the ICP performance evaluation process. 

Notably, while a number of Committee members in 1999 and later years recalled receiving the executive 
compensation worksheets in meetings with Ashen prior to the February Committee meeting each year, 
others recalled seeing the worksheets only at the Committee meetings, and some others did not recall 
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seeing the worksheets at all, even though they were provided in the materials the Committee received and 
reviewed at the Committee meetings. 

Also, some of the executive compensation worksheets that were provided to the Committee (whether at 
the individual meetings with Ashen or at the Committee meeting in February) were not as complete as the 
worksheets for those executives in those years that Ashen had in his files and used for his own purposes. 
Specifically, for compensation years 2000 and 2001 (Grasso's two highest compensation years), the 
executive compensation sheets for Grasso that were provided to the Committee did not have separate 
columns for CAP and the Total Compensation, but Ashen had separate executive compensation sheets for 
Grasso in those years in his own files that were identical in all respects to those provided to the 
Committee except that they included those  column^.^' Also, the executive compensation sheet for 2000 
did not include any mention of the Special Payment that Grasso received that year. 

Ashen said that, during his meetings with the Committee members, he typically would advise the 
Committee members the level of compensation that Grasso was recommending for all of those under him 
that the Committee had to consider, including Johnston, Kinney, Britz, and the few other top executives 
whose compensation the Committee specifically considered. He said that, in addition, during the years 
that Langone was Chairman, he would meet with Langone before beginning his series of meetings and 
would advise the Committee members of Langone's recommendation concerning Grasso's compensation 
level for the year. 

Ashen said that he would sometimes collect feedback from Committee members as to what their reaction 
was to Grasso's recommendation on the other top executives and Langone's recommendation on Grasso. 
As he continued on and met with each Committee member separately, he would pass along that 
information to them so that the Committee members, in advance of the February Committee meeting, 
would have a sense of where each other stood on the compensation issues. A number of Committee 
members agreed with Ashen's recollection on this point, while others did not recall being advised by 
Ashen of a recommendation for Grasso's compensation, or providing Ashen any information or feedback 
on that issue. 

Ashen said that he and Grasso had no discussions at any time about Grasso's compensation, including the 
benchmarking that applied to Grasso, except for once in 2002 when he mentioned to Grasso what 
Grasso's benchmark was. Ashen stated that Grasso never provided him with any information br any 
recommendation to pass along to Committee members. Committee members likewise said that they were 
not aware of Grasso having any direct involvement in his own compensation, or discussing it with any 
Committee members or Board members. Ashen also said that, when he met with each Committee 
member, he did not make any recommendation or comments to the Committee members about the 
appropriate level of Grasso's compensation, but instead simply passed on whatever Langone or others had 
recommended for Grasso. Committee members who recalled meeting with Ashen agreed. 

Ashen and all of the Committee members who recalled meeting with him prior to any February 
Committee meeting agreed that, in connection with yearly compensation decisions in February, the 
Committee was not given any materials regarding SEW, including the SEW accumulation of Grasso or 
any other NYSE employee, and that SERF' was not discussed at any of these meetings. 
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b. Compensation Committee Meetings 

(i) General Process of Compensation Committee Meetings 

At the Compensation Committee meetings each February, the Committee would make its decisions 
concerning the final compensation to award for the prior year to the NYSE's top executives, including 
Grasso. Usually, attendees at the meeting included the Committee, Ashen, Grasso, Jeff Hyrnan of Hewitt, 
and sometimes Bemstein. 

At the meeting, the Committee had before it a packet of materials relating to the compensation decisions 
it was required to make. These materials distributed included the ICP performance evaluation summary, 
a list of the comparator group, and the executive compensation worksheets for each of the senior 
executives, including Grasso. Ashen stated that if the Committee members had reached a consensus 
about Grasso's compensation through their individual meetings with him, the executive compensation 
worksheet in their materials would be in final form and would contain the final compensation numbers for 
Grasso. 

In general, the Committee meeting typically went as follows. First, Ashen presented the results of the 
NYSE's performance against the targets that had been set for the previous year on the empirical ICP 
performance criteria. (Ashen stated that he had prepared the narrative on the NYSE's performance based 
on reports f?om the various divisions of the NYSE, and that Grasso had approved it.) After Ashen made 
his presentation, Grasso would then discuss with the Committee his recommendations for the Chairman's 
Award, which included a narrative of accomplishments for the year. 

Ashen and Grasso then would present the proposed ICP awards for the senior executives. Typically, the 
Committee focused primarily on the top seven executives at the NYSE in its compensation process. 
Ashen stated that the level that the Committee decided for compensation of those seven executives to 
some extent determined the level of compensation for all others in the organization. Ashen stated that he 
and Grasso reviewed the executive compensation worksheets for senior executives, which contained the 
benchmark for their compensation. Ashen stated that the Committee used the worksheet as a starting 
point and would then determine their compensation awards. 

After the Committee decided on its awards for senior management, Grasso would leave the room and the 
discussion turned to his own yearly compensation award. It appevs that during some years Ashen 
remained for this discussion while in other years he too left the room. The Committee Chairman would 
typically give the presentation for Grasso's compensation, often with the aid of speaking points prepared 
by Ashen; sometimes Ashen gave the presentation. 

Ashen said that, if the Committee, through the members' individual meetings with him, had arrived at a 
general consensus regarding Grasso's compensation before the meeting, then he would fill in the boxes 
for Grasso's compensation on the executive compensation worksheet. In that case, the Committee 
Chairman would present that number to the Committee and the Committee would accept it without 
extensive discussion. From the applicable executive compensation sheets, it appears that, in every year 
from 1998 forward, the numbers in the Grasso worksheet were filled in at the time the worksheet was 
provided to the Committee, suggesting, according to Ashen, that the Committee was in agreement going 
into many of the Committee meetings about the compensation for Grasso. The only year the numbers on 
the worksheets changed as a result of the Committee meeting was in 2002 (for 2001 compensation), when 
the ICP award was adjusted upward and the proposed Special Payment was correspondingly reduced., 



However, many Committee members recalled considerable discussion each year at the Committee 
meetings regarding Grasso's compensation level, and generally said that the decision regarding Grasso's 
compensation was made at the Committee meeting, after discussion and consideration by the Committee 
as a whole. 

Committee members, particularly in later years of Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO, were not 
consistent on the precise subject of their discussion or decision each year concerning Grasso's 
compensation. In the later years, Grasso's compensation had several components, including an ICP 
award, an LTIP award, and a CAP award, and in 2000 and 2001, a Special Payment - all in addition to his 
base salary. Some Committee members in later years recalled that the Committee focused on only some 
parts of those awards, and may have ignored the CAP award in particular in setting the overall 
compensation. Others recalled that the total compensation of Grasso was discussed and decided on, and 
that the individual components were then "backed into" by starting with the total award, subtracting the 
fixed components (salary and LTIP) and then adjusting the remaining components(s) accordingly. When 
the CAP was m place, the Committee would divide the remainder, 113 to CAP and 213 to ICP. 

Committee members all agreed that there was no annual discussion of, or presentation at the Committee 
meetings relating to, Grasso's SEW benefits. Most Committee members said they were aware that 
Grasso had SEW benefits and that the ICP awards would contribute to his SERF' benefits, but some 
stated that they never even heard that Grasso had SERF' benefits. Those directors who achowledged 
knowing that Grasso had SERF' benefits were clear, however, that specific information about the level of 
Grasso's SERP benefits accumulation was never provided to the Committee at any time prior to the fall of 
2002, when it was provided in connection with the consideration of a new contract for Grasso and a 
payout of his SERP benefits. Thus, neither the amount of Grasso's accumulated SERF' benefits to date 
nor the resulting impact of the yearly ICP award on Grasso's SERF' account were considered at the 
Committee meetings at which Grasso's recommended yearly compensation award was determined. 

(ii) Yearly Compensation Committee Decisional Meetings, 1996-2003 

(a) February 1996 (1995 Compensation) 

The first time the Committee considered Grasso's annual compensation as Chairman and CEO was in 
February 1996, for the year 1995. At the time, there was no CAP or LTIP, so the only decision point for 
the Committee was the level of Grasso's ICP bonus. 

Accord~ng to Stanley C. Gault, the Chair of the Committee at that t~me, the same factors initially 
considered by the Committee in determining Grasso's bonus amount were: (1) his target bonus 
($700,000, as set by his 1995 contract); and (2) the performance of the NYSE which, as determmed by 
the ICP performance evaluat~on, was 130% above its target level. Gault stated that, because the NYSE's 
performance level was above the target, the Comnnttee would have considered awarding Grasso a bonus 
above Grasso's $700,000 target ICP bonus. 

Gault noted that the Committee did not use any comparator group or formula to determine Grasso's bonus 
or to compute a benchmark for his bonus, but instead the Committee evaluated a number of things, such 
as market information and NYSE performance factors not taken into account in the ICP performance 
metrics, in determining what the right additional bonus amount, if any, should be awarded, including 
whether the bonus should be above the $700,000 target. 

Note
Of course, those knowing only that the benefits existed never bothered to inquire as to details.



The Committee decided to award Grasso total compensation of $1 1,999,999. All on the Committee 
agreed that the Committee voted on the total compensation number of $12 million and then Ashen 
"backed into" the subcomponents of ICP and CAP, taking into account Grasso's fvted salary of $1.4 
million. 

When asked why the compensation to Grasso decreased by nearly $20 mllhon &om the prior year, while 
the benchmark for Grasso's compensation level had decreased by only $5 million, several directors who 
were on the Committee in prior years explained that compensation in general was down generally "on the 
Street." Grassa's performance, they stated, was the same or better, so that was not a factor in the 
reduction. They also said that they did not recall Grasso's proposed new employment conbract, and his 
high level of accumulated SERF' benefits, which recently had become known to the Committee, as being 
factors in the reduction of Grasso's compensation. 

Some new Committee members said that their view was that a large cut from Grasso's previous year's 
compensation was essentially a step in the right direction as compared to Grasso's compensation for 2000 
and 2001. One new Committee member indicated that he was surprised to learn of the high level of 
Grasso's previous compensation awards an4 in approving Grasso's 2002 compensation, took comfort in 
the fact that Grasso's compensation was down 50% over prior years. Another new Committee member 
said that, if he could have cut Grasso's compensation down further, he would have, but he felt that taking 
it down "in steps" was appropriate, and that perhaps there would be a further reduction the following 
year. 

The breakdown on Grasso's compensation for 2002 was as follows: 

c. Board Meetings: Recommendation by Compensation Committee to Board and 
Board Vote 

Following the February Compensation Committee meeting each year, a Board meeting was held at which 
one of the main subject matters was compensation for the NYSE's employees, including Grasso's 
compensation.s3 

Year 

2002 

Typically, at the Board meeting, Ashen would report to the Board regarding the ICP performance 
evaluation for the previous year and would provide the percentage above target that had been achieved on 
the empirical performance factors. Either Ashen or Grasso would then review for the Board a number of 
the NYSE's significant accomplishments throughout the preceding year. Grasso would then address the 
Board with respect to his evaluation of the NYSE's performance - the Chairman's Award - and would 
present his recommendation. Following Grasso, the Committee Chairman would address the Board 
regarding the Committee's recommendation as to the proposed ICP award for managerial and 

Salary 

$1,400,000 

83 Note that, because of  trme conshaints and logistical Issues in the Inveshgation, we did not interview any Board 
members who were not either on the Compensation Committee at some point or on the Board on August 7,2003, when 
Grasso's 2003 contract was discussed by the Board. Thus, the information we received regarding Board meetings prior 
to 2003 derives from Committee members and Board members whose service stretched back before 2003, as well as 
from Grasso, Ashen, and various documents. 

ICP 

$7,066,666 

Special 
Payments 

.-- 

Total 

$1 1,999,999 

LTIP 

--- 

CAP 

$3,533,333 



professional employees. Usually both Grasso and the Committee Chairman would then present a total 
compensation recommendation for the President or Co-Presidents. 

After Grasso excused himself from the meeting, the Committee Chairman would then report the 
recommendation of the Committee with respect to the yearly ICP award for Grasso. The presentation by 
the Chairman lasted only a matter of minutes and was not very detailed. Some Board members remarked 
that it was fairly perfunctory. 

Some directors recalled that at times the Committee Chairman made reference to consultants being 
involved in the Committee's work and behind the Committee's recommendation. Other directors stated 
that Committee Chairmen also mentioned, albeit generally, that Grasso was being paid at a level 
commensurate with what other CEOs were making. 

Prepared remarks for Committee Chairman Langone's presentation to the Board in February 2000, for 
Grasso's 1999 compensation, state in part: "This award is based on Dick's performance and is in line 
with the compensation of his peers as determined by Committee wth adtice from Hewitt, the 
Committee's compensation consu~tant .~~ 

Some other directors had no clear recollection of references to consultants or benchmarking being made 
by the Committee Chairman in presenting the Committee's recommendation regarding Grasso's 
compensation. All agreed, however, that there was no mention of the comparator group employed by the 
NYSE or any specific information about the benchmarking used by the Committee or the market or peer 
group information that had been provided by Hewitt. 

Directors generally agreed that rarely if ever were any questions raised about the Committee Chairman's 
compensation presentation,' and that nodirectors raised questions or issues of any kind, or made any 
comments at the meeting, regarding Grasso's level of compensation, even in the years when Grasso was 
awarded approximately $26.8 million (in February 2001 for 2000) and about $30.6 million (in February 
2002 for 2001). 

A number of directors in years after 1999, when asked during interviews about the total compensation 
that Grasso was awarded each year, stated that they believed that they may not have been provided the 
full information about Grasso's compensation. They stated that they may have been provided only the 
bonus and salary information, for example, but not the CAP, which reached $6.8 million for 2000 and 
$8.1 million for 2001. Thus, they stated they may not have been aware of the full amount of 
compensation being awarded to Grasso at the time they voted to approve the Committee's 
recommendation as to Grasso. Langone and other directors, however, stated that they recalled that the 
full amount of Grasso's compensation was disclosed to the Board. 

Unfortunately, for a number of years, we were unable to locate records definitively establishing the 
amount of Grasso's compensation that was disclosed to the Board each year. However, Langone's 
speaking points for his presentation to the Board in February 2002, for Grasso's 2001 compensation, 
suggest that in that year he reported to the Board incomplete information regarding the compensation for 
Grasso. The speaking points state: 
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This year, the Committee recommends that Dick receive, in addition to his salary: $16.1 
million in variable compensation (up $2.5 million from last year); a Special Payment of 
$5 million that he will receive when he leaves the Exchange that will also be placed in his 
SESP account - the Exchange's nonqualified Savings Plan. Like the Special Payment 
we made last year, the $5 million will not be eligible for the Capital Accumulation Plan, 
nor will it be a part of Dick's retirement calculation. As a result, the Committee 
recommends that Dick's compensation be raised $2.5 million, including a deferred 
special payment of $5 million. 

These speaking points make no mention of Grasso's $8,050,000 CAP award that year, and do not tally up 
the salary, ICP award, CAP award, and special payment to provide the Board with the full disclosure that 
the total compensation that year is $30.55 million. In addition, Grasso's compensation actually went up 
that year $3.75 million, not $2.5 million, due to an increase in Grasso's CAP award of about $1.25 
million fiom the prior year. Thus, these speaking points suggest that the Board may have been left with 
an incomplete picture that year regarding Grasso's total compensation. 

Each year, the Board approved the Committee's recommendation concerning Grasso's compensation. 
While Board members all had slightly different recollections regarding what was presented during the 
Committee Chairman's presentation of Grasso's recommended compensation award, all agreed that 
nothing was mentioned about SERF' benefits of any employees, including Grasso, and that they were not 
told of Grasso's or any other employee's accumulated SERF' benefits. Several directors indicated that 
they would have wanted to know about the SERP accumulation in connection with their compensation 
decisions for Grasso, that such information was material and should have been provided to them, and that 

I it would have been important to their decision making concerning Grasso's yearly compensation. 

C. The Process By Which Grasso's Pension Benefits Accumulated During 
His Tenure as Chairman and CEO of the NYSE 

As outlined infra, Grasso received contractual SERP-like benefits that were built into his 1990, 1995 and 
1999 employment contracts. His contractual SERF' benefits largely mirrored the SERF' benefits provided 
to the NYSE employees who participated in the SERP. 

Under Grasso's contracts, his SEW benefits were determined by two main factors: (1) his final average 
annual pay (salary plus ICP award only), which consists of the highest consecutive three years of his pay 
during the last ten years of his service at the NYSE; and (2) his total years of service at the NYSE, which 
determines the percentage of his final average pay that he is eligible to receive as a SERP annuity benefit 
(e.g., for 35 years of senice, the percentage is 65% of the final average pay).85 Thus: setting aside other 
minor adjustments, if Grasso's highest three consecutive years of pay (salary plus ICP award) in the last 
ten years averaged $10 million, and he had worked for 35 years, his lifetime SERF' annuity would be $6.5 
million (65% of $10 million). Under Grasso's contract, he also was eligible to take a lump-sum SERP 
benefit upon retirement, which would be equal to the present value of his lifetime SERP annuity, based on 
the expected duration of that annuity (per a mortality table) and an interest rate (determined by a 
contractual formula). 

As is evident from the SEW formula, the "drivers" of Grasso's SEW benefits were his salary and ICP 
awards. The higher the average of his best three consecutive years of salary and ICP awards, the higher 
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calculation and SERP benefits accumulation. Based on the analysis of Mercerlo' and ~ e w i t t " ~  the 
Committee determined that, by making only 85% of Grasso's ICP award SEW-eligible, the increased 
ICP awards as a result of the elimination of LTIP would result in increased ICP awards being "cost 
neutral" to the NYsE.'" 

By letter agreement dated August 30, 2001, and signed by both Langone and Grasso, Grasso's 1999 
employment contract was amended to reflect that, as of May 1, 2001, 85% of Grasso's ICP would be 
included in calculating his SERP benefit.lo5 The NYSE and the Committee agreed that "it is intended that 
[Grasso's] potential future awards under the NYSE's annual incentive compensation program ('the 
Annual ICP') will be increased to make up for the elimination of your incentive opportunities under the 
LTIP." 

3. 2003 Contract 

In the Summer of 2002, Grasso and the Compensation Committee (through its Chairman, Kenneth 
Langone) began discussing the possibility of extending, or renegotiating, Grasso's 1999 employment 
contract, which was due to expire in May 2005. The renegotiation process continued for about a year and 
culminated on August 7,2003 with the Board approving a contract extension and cash payout to Grasso 
of about $139.5 million in deferred compensation and benefits. Grasso signed a new emplopent 
contract on August 27,2003. Grasso then resigned on September 17,2003. 

a. Summer 2002: Initial Discussions Regarding New Contract 

Grasso and various Committee members agreed that the idea of renegotiating Grasso's 1999 employment 
contract first emerged in about July or August of 2002. According to Grasso, the subject of extending his 
contract first came up while he was in the course of building the NYSE's 2003 budget. He stated that, at 
that time, he and Langone were discussing succession planning, and the idea of renegotiating his contract 
was raised more by him than by Langone. Grasso explained that, earlier in 2002, the Committee had 
asked him if he intended to leave theNYSE, and he thought extending his contract and thereby removing 
the lingering question of whether he intended to stay at the NYSE would be a positive step for the NYSE. 

Langone, on the other hand, said he, not Grasso, fust initiated the conversation with Grasso regarding a 
contract extension. Langone said that Grasso did not ask for the renegotiation, and never raised the issue. 
Langone explained that he approached Grasso about extending his contract because the Committee had 
expressed a desire to ensure Grasso would remain at the NYSE beyond the expiration of his current 
contract, and the Committee had asked him, as Committee Chairman, to broach the subject of a contract 
extension with Grasso. Langone stated that, at that time, the Committee was concerned about whether 
Grasso might leave the NYSE for another position, and what the NYSE would do in terms of succession 
if that occurred. Langone stated that he had learned kom sources in Washington, D.C. that Grasso was 
being considered as a possible replacement for Paul O'Neill as Secretary of the Treasury. Langone said 
he had mentioned this information to the Committee, and the Committee then requested that he speak 
with Grasso to determine what Grasso's intentions were with regard to continuing as Chairman and CEO. 
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Langone said he approached Grasso and inquired whether Grasso had any intention of leaving the NYSE. 
According to Langone, Grasso strongly assured him he had no intention of leaving the NYSE for another 
position. Grasso stated that he had told not just Langone, but the Committee and Board as well on 
numerous prior occasions, that he had no intention of leaving the NYSE. Grasso emphasized that when 
he said that, it was not just a perfunctory statement, it was true. 

Langone sa~d that, after speaking with Grasso, he reported back to the Committee that Grasso had no 
intention of leaving the NYSE and said that if the Committee's desire to renegotiate &asso's contract 
was based on a perceived concem about Grasso leaving the NYSE for another position, they did not have 
to be concerned about that. Langone said that, notwithstanding Grasso's assurances that he had no 
intent~on of leaving the NYSE, the Committee expressed a strong desire to "lock up" Grasso for 
additional years and asked him to go back to Grasso and relay the Committee's desire to extend his 
contract. 

Some other Committee members recalled that the subject of a contract extension for Grasso arose due to a 
concern by some on the Committee about Grasso leaving the NYSE. Another Committee member 
believed that the subject came up simply because Grasso had asked the Committee to consider reworking 
his contract so that he could take out the deferred compensation and benefits that he had accumulated. 
Most of the other Committee members did not have a strong recollection of the genesls of the idea to 
renegotiate Grasso's 1999 contract. 

Grasso, Langone and other Committee members agreed that, when Grasso and Langone began discussing 
a possible contract extension, Grasso was receptive to extending his term, but made clear that, if his tern 
was to be extended, he wanted a draw down or payout of his deferred compensation and accumulated 
pension benefits. Grasso provided three reasons why he wanted a payout: (1) for estate planning 
purposcs; (2) because he wanted to begin a more formalized process of charitable giving (he explained 
that he wanted to create a personal foundation and start giving in a more structured manner); and (3) 
because he had some "trepidation" with regard to the large size of his accumulated SERP benefits and he 
was concerned that a future Board would not honor (i.e., pay out)those benefits. 

Grasso explained that he had no doubt that the current Board would honor his right to the accumulated 
SEW benefits, but noted that most or all of the Board members who had awarded him these benefits 
would be gone by the time he retired or othenvisc received the payout. He said that hc wanted to take Lhe 
issue off the table by taking out the money at that time, in connection with the extension of his contract. 
Grasso stated that he had not given specific thought to the manner in which a future Board might seek to 
deny him the SERF' benefits, e.g., a legal challenge, but that he simply thought it was in his best interests 
and the interests of the NYSE to get the benefits off the books. 

b. September 23,2002 Compensation Committee Meeting 

On September 23, 2002, the Compensation Committee conducted its first meeting at which the potential 
extension of Grasso's 1999 employment agreement was d isc~ssed . '~~  The meeting was conducted by 
telephone. In attendance were Langone (Chair), and directors Cayne, Fink, Karmazin, Komansky, Levin, 
Murphy and Schrempp. Others in attendance included Ashen, Chief Financial Officer Keith R. Helsby ' 
and M~schell of Mercer. 
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The Committes had before it at the meeting a proposal to amend Grasso's employment agreeme~~t.'~' The 
proposal had been prepared by Ashen prior to the meeting, and included the following terms: 

0 extending the term of the agreement by 19 months, from May 31,2005 to December 31, 
2006; 

capping Grasso's compensation for SERP calculation purposes (resulting in annual SEW 
expense for Grasso of only $7.1 million per year instead of $24.5 million per year); 

transferring, on a yearly basis beginning Febnrary 1, 2003, a total of $51.5 million in 
accrued benefits from SERP to SESP (effectively accelerating this payment from January 
. l ,  2007 to earlier dates); and 

accelerating from Februaly 1, 2006 to February 1, 2003, the vesting of Grasso's 
previously awarded Retention Payment of $5 million. 

The proposal provided for the transfer of $51.5 million of Grasso's accumulated SEW benefits from his 
SERP account to his SESP account, rather than a direct payout of those benefits, and did not provide for 
the payout of any deferred compensation to ~ r a s s o . ' ~ ~  The stated "purpose of the proposal was to reduce 
the impact of the amortization of the NYSE's unfunded liability" and to avoid a big balloon payment at 
the end of Grasso's employment. At that time, calculations showed that the balloon payment owed at the 
termination of Grasso's employment in May 2005 would have been over $1 10 mi l l i~n!~  

Ashen and Langone described the proposal to the Committee. One director, who was new to the 
Committee at that time, stated that, upon seeing the size of Grasso's SERP benefit for the fust time in 
connection witb the contract proposal, he thought it was a typo. (He recalled that benefit bemg presented 
as about $120 million.) He explained that he brought it to Langone's attention and was informed by 
Langone that it was not a typo and that Grasso deserved the money. The director told Langone that the 
Committee should get a compensation consultant to examine the proposal because the level of benefits 
was "out of whack." Other directors raised similar concerns. 

After extensive discussion, the Committee decided to hire a consultant who had no dealings with the 
NYSE to review the contract proposal. Specifically, according to Ashen, the Committee wanted a third 
party to review the proposal so that the Committee would reach a "comfort level" that it was not "doing 
something silly." He said the Committee was concerned about insulating itself from potential criticism 
regarding this extension, and wanted professional consultants to examine the proposal and bless it. 
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c. September 24,2002 to October 2,2002 

On Langone's recommendation, the Committee retained Robert Stucker and Thomas Desmond of 
Vedder, Price, Kaufman and Kammholz ("Vedder, Price") to conduct an analysis of the proposal 
concerning Grasso's contract renegotiation."0 Stucker confirmed that he received a call from Langone 
and was informed that the Committee had a proposal before it to amend the contract of the NYSE's CEO 
that would result primarily in an extension of the contract term and a distribution of retirement benefits to 
the CEO. Langone explained to Stucker that someone on the Compensation Committee had said that the 
Committee should get a fresh set of eyes to look at the proposal and see if it was appropriate. According 
to Stucker, Langone asked Vedder, Price to take a look at the proposal, and come to the Committee 
meeting and tell the Committee whether it was a "normal" or "appropriate" thing to do. Stucker said he 
was told by Langone that the Committee was meeting in approximately a week to discuss the issue, and 
thus he had "a very short leash." 

It is important to note that our factual investigation revealed a dispute as to the scope of Vedder, Price's 
engagement regarding this matter for the Committee. Ashen insisted that Vedder, Price was hired to 
essentially give either an opinion or rscommendation as to whether Grasso's past compensation was 
appropriate and as to whether the terms of the proposed new contract with Grasso were reasonable and 
appropriate. Stucker stated, on the other hand, that while Vedder, Price was asked to analyze and provide 
comments on the draft proposal to extend Grasso's contract, Vedder, Price was never asked to provide a 
specific opinion or recommendation on the proposal or on Grasso's past compensation levels. Stucker 
stated that they were told by Langone that the goal of the proposal was to retain Grasso and, with that in 
mind, Vedder, Price was asked to review the proposal and assess whether it achieved that stated goal. 

Langone's recollection was consistent with that of Stucker. Langone stated that he did not recall asking 
Vedder, Price for an ultimate opinion on the proposal and was adamant that Vedder, Price was not asked 
to review Grasso's past compensation, since the Committee did not have reservations about what Grasso 
had been paid up through that time. According to Langone, Stucker was told that the Committee's goal 
was to retain Grasso and was presented with the proposed deal and asked to "make sure it was right." 

Stucker stated that, during his early discussions with Langone and Ashen, the contract proposal was 
presented by Langone and Ashen along the lines of the following: "We have a proposal that's a 'no 
brainer"' and "it's essentially a done deal"; "the Committee is on board with it (at least most of them)" 
and "Hewitt and Mercer have signed off on it." 

After being retained, Vedder, Price worked on its analysis for about a week and prepared a report for 
delivery to the Committee at the Committee's next meeting on October 3,2002. The report listed various 
"considerations" that Vedder, Price thought the Committee should consider with regard to the contract 
proposal and contained some data analyzing Grasso's past compensation levels, but did not provide any 
specific recommendation or opinion as to what the Committee should or should not do. In preparing their 
report, Vedder, Price spoke with and received information and materials from Ashen, as well as from the 
Committee's compensation consultant, Jeff Hyman of Hewitt, and the Committee's benefits consultant, 
William Mischell of Mercer. 

'lo Langone w% familiar with Stucker by virtue of Langone's service on the Board of Directors of HomeDepot. Stucker 
had negotiated the contract of current Home Depot Chairman and CEO Robert Nardelli while Langone was on the 
Home Depot board, and had made a favorable impression upon Langone. 



d. October 3,2002 Compensation Committee Meeting 

On October 3, 2002, the Committee met again and discussed for the second time the possibility of 
extending Grasso's employment contract."' In attendance were Langone (Chair) and directors Cayne, 
Fink, Karmazin, Komansky, Levin and Murphy. Others in attendance included Ashen, Desmond and 
Stucker of Vedder, Price, Hyman of Hewitt and Mischell of Mercer. 

At the outset of the meeting, Ashen explained to the Committee that Vedder, Pnce was the third party that 
had been hired to conduct the analysis of the proposal to amend Grasso's contract and that Vedder, Price 
had completed its analys~s after conferring with Hewitt and Mercer. 

At the meeting, Stucker handed out to the Committee members present Vedder, Price's written rep~r t . "~  
He then outlined Vedder, Price's analysis, walking through the report page by page. Stucker reviewed the 
section of Vedder, Price's report entitled "CEO Compensation Review" and explained to the Committee 
Grasso's past compensation and benefits, pointing out, among other things, that Grasso's 2001 
compensation (listed as $26.3 million) was substantially higher than the compensation of CEOs in the 
NYSE comparator group ($13.5 million) and that Grasso's estimated pension benefits at age 60 ($122- 
152 million) were substantially higher than the estimated pension benefits at age 60 of CEOs in the NYSE 
comparator group ($21-29 million). He explained that while Vedder, Price was not asked to specifically 
outline this information for the Committee or conduct an analysis of it, they thought it was important to 
provide this information to the Committee so that the Committee could understand the background of 
how the pension and deferred compensation that was proposed to be paid out under the new contract had 
built up over time. Stucker stated he was not asked for an opinion as to magnitude of Grasso's 
compensation or benefits. 

Stucker stated that he and Desmond made clear they were simply presenting "thoughts and 
considerations" on the proposal and, in particular, they made the following observations for the 
Committee: 

It was unusual to allow an executive to collect retirement benefits prior to retirement, as 
the proposal called for. 

There may be better ways for the NYSE to save money than by allowing Grasso to Qke 
his retirement money out, such as capping the amount of compensation that was SERP- 
eligible. 

The proposal had no retention value, 

Stucker stated that Vedder Price's report generated a lot of discussion among the Committee members at 
this time. One Committee member stated that he specifically recalled asking: "If [Grasso] quit or left for 
any reason, was all of this money his?" He said he was told "yes." He stated that he "was told" that all of 
the money Grasso wished to take was vested and that if Grasso left the NYSE in 2002, for any reason 
whether he was fred or left voluntarily it was all his. According to this director, Ashen was the principal 
source of this information. Another director recalled being concerned about paying this money out in the 
midst of the Enron, Tyco, and WorldCom scandals (among others). The director specifically recalled 
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asking, with regard to the large benefit, "Who knows about this? Do the members how?" He was told 
"No." 

According to the meeting minutes, Stucker "recommended that the Committee recommend to the Board 
of Directors that the proposed modifications to Mr. Grasso's employment agreement be made with the 
exception of accelerating vesting and payment of the retention award that fully vests February 2006.""' 
Stucker informed us that he made no such recommendation and pointed out that Vedder, Price's report 
gave "considerations" not recommendations. He stated plainly that the statement in the minutes to the 
contrary was wrong. Though Ashen, who wrote the minutes, maintained that "the Committee approved 
the minutes, so that must be what happened," he conceded that Stucker had concluded that whether or not 
to enter into the contract was "up to the Committee." He also acknowledged that Stucker was "not 
enthusiastically endorsing [the contract], but did not say it was crazy." Further, Ashen noted that Vedder, 
Price was not as "crisp" or "clear" as he and the Committee would have liked them to be in terms of 
prowding a thumbs up or thumbs down. 

Members of the Committee at this time have differing views as to the role that Vedder, Price played at the 
Committee meeting. For example, one director stated that he was not looking to Vedder, Price to 
recommend whether the NYSE should or should not go fonvard with the proposal. His understanding 
was that Vedder, Price was asked to assess whether it was in fact allowable and legal under the structure 
of the NYSE plans for Grasso to receive his retirement and deferred compensation as a lump sum before 
in fact retiring. In his view, Vedder, Price determined that this was allowable and that is what he looked 
to Vedder, Price for in terms of a "recommendation." Another Committee member stated that he did not 
know one way or the other whether Vedder, Price made a recommendation. Yet another Committee 
member stated that it was his recollection that Vedder, Price did, in fact, recommend that the proposed 
deal be approved. To further underscore the range of views as to what Vedder, Price's role was, Jeff 
Hyman observed in a memo to file dated October 4, 2002 that "[tlhe Committee retained Stucker for the 
purpose of providing an independent view of Dick Grasso's SERF' benefit," after "one new Committee 
member" indicated Grasso's S E W  benefit "seemed extraordinary" and "requested the review to comply 
with their fiduciary 

After sitting in Executive Session and considering the proposal outside the presence of Ashen and the 
consultants, the Committee agreed upon various modifications to the contract proposal. At the conclusion 
of the meeting, the Committee directed Stucker and Ashen to prepare "a short description of the 
modifications for the Committee's review, with the added direction that the changes be shown not to 
increase costs to the NYSE.""~ 

In his memo to file dated October 4, 2002, Jeff Hyman wrote, in part, regarding the October 3 Committee 
meeting: 

[tlhe Committee asked that the range of possible responses to Grasso's proposal be 
documented, and a tentative decision articulated so that the Committee can review and 
vote at its December meeting. It then will present its recommendation (albeit in some 
oblique fashion) to the full board for their approval. The Committee does not want to 
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disclose to the full Board the dollar value of the lump sum SERP benefit, so the 
Committee Chairman is likely to use general terms in describing the Committee's 
deliberations in an effort to minimize conversation on the matter by the full Board!16 

No Committee members, however, told us that the Committee had any intention to provide vague or 
incomplete information to the Board on the proposal. 

e. October 4,2002 to October 17,2002 

On October 7, Vedder, Price sent a letter addressed to Langone, and copying the entire Committee, as 
well as Ashen, Hyman and Mischell, which summarized Vedder, Price's understanding of the 
Committee's conclusions regarding the proposed modifications to Grasso's contract."' Specifically, the 
letter indicated that the Committee had "tentatively approved" the following terms: 

"Extend the initial term of Mr. Grasso's Employment Agreement to December 3 1, 2006 
from May 3 1,2005; 

Modify Mr. Grasso's pension (SERP) benefit to cap his fmal average compensation at its 
current level, thereby capping future accruals as well. 

0 In early 2003, transfer $51.5 million to thk Executive's SESP account, which amount 
shall be a credit against Executive's eventual lump sum pension; 

No change to the vesting of the February 1, 2001, $5 million special retention payment 
award, thereby maintaining the February 1,2006 cliff-vesting date; and 

With regard to the award of incentive compensation for 2002 (to be determined in 
February 2003) and for subsequent years, the Committee will consider crediting a more 
significant portion of such awards to CAP or other similar arrangements that cliff vests 
on December 3 1,2006."~'~ 

Ashen asked Vedder, Price to reformat the conclusions set forth in their October 7 letter into a term sheet 
for use m connection with future Committee and Board deliberation on the proposed contract. By letter 
dated October 17, 2002, Vedder, Price transmitted such a term sheet to Langone, and made note that it 
was Vedder Price's understanding from Ashen that the contract matter would "not be taken up for fmal 
action until the February 
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(i) Late January to Early February 

According to Ashen, in about January 2003, Grasso told him he had decided to take a cash payout of his 
accrued SERP benefit instead of transferring it to SESP, as had originally been planned. Ashen stated 
that that he and Grasso discussed whether Grasso should transfer the money or take it in cash. He said 
that Grasso h e w  that a cash payout would trigger a severe tax penalty, and that the "optics" of a cash 
payout would be bad. He explained that Grasso said part of his reasoning for taking the payout now was 
that the SERP payout would be smaller in 2003 than it would be if he took it at the end of 2007. 
Moreover, Ashen stated that Grasso believed there would be a strong reaction to the magnitude of his 
retirement package, and that he did not want to retire, take a huge sum of money and leave the fallout 
from the payout for his successor to deal with. Grasso did not have any recollection of this conversation 
and, as stated supra, said that the proposal always involved a cash payout of SERP, as opposed to a SEW 
to SESP transfer. 

Ashen said that, based on these discussions with Grasso, he modified the proposed new contract terms. 
Among the changes, the contract was to be extended to February 1,2007, rather than December 3 1,2006, 
as originally proposed, and Grasso was to receive a cash payout of $5 1.5 million in SEW benefits, rather 
than a kansfer of those benefits to his SESP account. Completely new was a proposal to pay Grasso 
$79,055,148 of earned and deferred compensation. It is unclear precisely how, when or why this term 
became part of the proposal. 

On February 5, Ashen provided Stucker with a page from the Committee briefing book for the February 6 
meeting that addressed the "Changes to Richard A. Grasso's Employment Agreement." Ashen also 
explained to Stucker that the Committee members had been briefed by him on the changes, except for the 
proposed payout of more than $79 million in deferred compensation. 

(ii) February 6,2003 Committee Meeting 

On February 6, 2003, the Committee met and, in addition to making 2002 compensation determinations 
for Grasso and others, once again considered the proposal for amending Grasso's contract.'" In 
attendance were Langone (Chair) and directors Cayne, Fink, Karmazin, Kornansky, Levin, Murphy and 
Paulson. Others in attendance included Ashen, Hyman, Stucker, and De~mond.'~' 

At the meeting, Ashen noted several changes to the proposal had been made since the Committee had last 
met to discuss the matter in October 2002, and he reviewed those changes with the Committee. 
Specifically, the following "Changes to Richard A. Grasso's Employment Agreement" were addressed by 
the Committee at this meeting:''' 
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Extension of the employment term from May 3 1,2005 to February 1,2007. 

Modification of the SERP pension benefit calculation so that compensation would be 
capped at its then present level, with service credit continuing to accrue. 

Payment, as soon as practical, of the eamed and accrued vested portion of Grasso's 
pension benefit - 5 1.5 million; and payment each February of the amount accrued in the 
prior year. 

Payment, as soon as practical, of the eamed and accrued vested pornon of deferred 
compensation - $79,055,148 - including deferred salary, deferred incentive 
compensation, vested special payment, SESP contributions and match, vested CAP 
awards, CAP awards to vest February 2003, and prior pension transfer. Payment each 
February of newly vested compensabon including CAP, SESP, and special payment 
including Capital Accumulation Plan Awards to vest February 2003. 

Retention of 1983 Mortality Table for Grasso's SERP calculation. 

Notably, these terms were set forth in the Committee briefing book that was distributed to all Committee 
members. 

According to Ashen, he had previously briefed Committee members on these changes, with the exception 
of the proposed payment of approximately $79 million in deferred compensation. He said only two 
Committee members knew of that proposed payment before the meeting because this proposal was only 
developed shortly before the meeting and he did not have time to brief all Committee members about the 
change.'23 

After Ashen reviewed the modified terms of the proposal, he once again introduced Stucker and Desmond 
to the Committee, and they distributed to Committee members a report they had prepared regarding the 
revised contract proposal. Stucker addressed the Committee and repeated much of the same overview and 
analysis that he had provided in October, but also spoke to the changes detailed by Ashen. Specifically, 
with regard to the proposed early payout of Grasso's SEW pension benefits and deferred compensation, 
Vedder, Price's analysis stated:'" 

Regarding $51.5 million advance pension payment: "It is rare for executive SEWS to 
provide such pre retirement cash payouts. Payment represents an opportunity cost to the 
NYSE. Due diligence issues associated with CEO request to 'cash out'." 

Regarding $79 million advance payment of deferred and incentive compensation 
amounts: "Acceleration is rare and inconsistent with tax-deferral and retention 
orientation of these programs. Cash flow impact and opportunity cost to the Exchange. 
Mechanism to recover payment of any amounts subject to forfeiture for pre-retirement 
voluntary resignation or for 'cause' termination. Due diligence issues associated with 
CEO request to 'cash out'." 
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Stucker stated that Vedder, Price's general commentary on the proposal, following these changes, was 
that it was even more unusual and executive friendly than the original proposal. Stucker was pressed by 
at least one director at this meeting to provide a recommendation as to whether or not to approve the 
proposal. Stucker stated that he responded by telling the Committee that "[wle're not here to recommend. 
We were retained to take a look at the proposal. We'll give you ow thoughts regarding the proposal in 
view of the goal of retention, but it's a business judgment decision for the Committee, it is not for us to 
recommend." Stucker stated that neither he nor Desmond ever gave an opinion or recommendation 
regarding the proposaI, and that he could not recall anyone on the Committee objecting to his refusal to 
do so. Some of the Committee members, though, indicated that they were ftustrated with Vedder, Price's 
refusal to provide a clear recommendation one way or the other. 

Following Vedder, Price's presentation, the Committee discussed in detail the pros and cons of the 
proposal, the financial impact of the proposal on the NYSE, and the implications of maldng the proposed 
changes for the NYSE and Grasso. Stucker recalled there being "gridlock" on the Committee because 
some members were very agitated about the changes having been brought forth at the last minute. 
Specifically, Stucker stated that the proposal was held up because people were upset both about the 
newness of the revised proposal and the absence of any financial analysis to backup the assertion that had 
been made that the revised proposal presented potential tax-related financial benefits to the NYSE. 

At the conclusion of the meeting, the Committee decided that to engage the NYSE's CFO and an outside 
financial expert who was knowledgeable about the NYSE's plans to develop an analysis of the financial 
implications to the NYSE and Grasso of the new proposed contract terms.125 The Committee also decided 
that Ashen would meet with each Committee member individually and arrange a telephonic Committee 
meeting in March to discuss the subsequent analysis of the contract proposal, so that the Committee could 
be prepared to recommend the proposal to the Board at the Board's next meeting in April. 

Ashen stated that, despite the Committee's request for this furiher analysis, he was left with the definite 
impression at this meeting that the Committee approved of the proposal so long as it was cost neubal. 
Ashen hired Mercer, who, as discussed infra, serves as the NYSE's benefits and actuarial consultant, to 
conduct the financial analysis. 

g. Late FebruarylMarch 2003 

(i) Mercer Analysis and Report 

Pursuant to Ashen's request, Mercer conducted an analysis of the financial implications of entering into 
the new contract as compared to the financial implications of doing nothing, i e . ,  leaving the 1999 
contract in place and assuming that Grasso would work until June 1, 2005 under that contract. Mercer 
concluded that the proposed new contract would result in relatively minimal savings for the NYSE, and 
prepared a report detailing its analysis and that conclusion. 

Mercer's 15-page March 2003 report, entitled "Financial Analysis of Proposed Changes to Employment 
Agreement" considered, among other things, the following proposed changes to Grasso's contract, and 
offered the folloviing conclusions regarding the financial impact of those proposed change:lZ6 
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0 Extend employment contract to June 1,2007. 

0 Pay SERP amount accrued in the amount of $51,574,000 

Pay deferred compensation of $80,683,000 which includes the vested portion of CAP. 

0 Each year the NYSE pays Grasso his SESP defeml and matching contribution ($144,000 
total) and that portion of CAP which becomes vested during the year. 

Conclusions: 

SERP: NYSE saves, on a present value basis (net of taxes), $286,000. 

Deferred Compensation: NYSE saves, on a present value basis (net of taxes), $4,06 1,000. 

0 Future Contributions: deductible to the NYSE; NYSE saves $199,000. 

0 Proposed changes save NYSE on a net after tax, present value basis, $4,148,000. 

Based on Mercer's analysis, Mischell concluded that, from a financial standpoint, the consequences of 
entering the proposed contract were not great. 

In communications between Ashen and Mischell regarding Mercer's analysis, Mischell questioned 
whether Ashen's characterization of the CAP portion of the $79 million in deferred compensation as 
"vested" was a~curate.'~' As Mischell pointed out, under Grasso's 1999 contract, his CAP awards were 
forfeitable in their entirety should Grasso leave the NYSE prior to the end of the contract's term, June 1, 
2005, and thus were not truly "vested" until the conclusion of the contract's tern. 

With this in mind, Mercer presented to Ashen (in draft reports) three different versions of its analysis: 
Version 1 included paying out Grasso's entire CAP balance; Version 2 included paying only the CAP 
funds that had previously been funded in the Vanguard Rabbi Trust; and Version 3 included paying out 
none of Grasso's CAP balance. In a March 5, 2003 e-mail, Mischell presented Ashen with these three 
options.'28 Ashen explained that the Committee decided to go with Version 2, primarily because they 
wanted a retention device. (The Committee's desire for a retention device, he said, also explained why 
they did not use Version 1. Ashen said that the Committee did not select Version 3 because Grasso 
wanted to be paid his "vested CAP.") As per Ashen's inshction, the final version of Mercer's March 
report, presented to the Committee, referred to the CAP portion of the payout as "vested." Ashen told 
Mischell he would explain to Committee members that under Grasso's existing cmtract his CAP awards 
were forfeitable. 

A Committee conference call was scheduled for March 28 to discuss the proposed contract and Mercer's 
analysis of proposed contract. 
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(ii) Meetings with Compensation Committee Members 

Subsequent to Mercer completing its analysis, in a ten-day span from March 10 to March 19, Ashen and 
Mischell met with all but two of the Committee members. In advance of each meeting, Ashen sent each 
Committee member a copy of Mercer's 15-page report, as well as a two-page summary of the report, 
which he had prepared. 

At the meetings, Ashen offered the Committee members the option of going through either the two-page 
summary of the proposal or the entire 15-page Mercer analysis. Ashen and Mischell offered somewhat 
different accounts as to the general nature of these meetings. According to Ashen, he walked the 
Committee members through the analysis in "excruciating detail." In particular, he said all of the 
Committee members understood that the CAP portion of the proposed payout was forfeitable if Grasso 
did not complete the term of his contract (June 2005). Mischell, though, described the meetings as 
generally "perfunctory" and short, and indicated that during most, if not all, of the meetings, directors 
asked Ashen to simply go through the hvo-page summary. 

One Committee member, who had not attended the September and October Committee meetings, stated 
that he learned of the proposal for the fust time through this one-on-one meeting with Ashen and 
Mischell. This Committee member stated that, after becoming aware of the proposal, he had several 
telephone conversations with Grasso in March during which he to tried to talk Grasso out of taking the 
payout. He said he told Grasso that it would be a big mistake for the NYSE and Grasso. He stated thal 
after spealung with Grasso, he was left with the impression that Grasso agreed not to pursue the payout at 
that time. Grasso did not recall any conversations with this director regarding the contract during the 
March time frame. 

(iii) Vedder Price's Role in Preparing for the March 28, 2003 Committee 
Conference Call 

In preparation for the Committee's March 28 conference call, various other communications between and 
among Ashen, Mischell and Vedder, Price took place. On March 12, Ashen forwarded to Vedder, Price 
Mercer's report and his two page summary of that report.'2q By letter dated March 14, and in a voicemail 
message, Desmond of Vedder, Price responded to Ashen with several questions regarding the proposed 
 change^.'^' On March 14, Ashen sent an e-mail to Mischell (who had been copied on Vedder, Price's 
letter) noting, "[iln his voicemail he [Desmond] hedged on whether Vedder, Price would recommend the 
proposal."'31 

A Vedder, Price report, entitled "Analysis of CEO Employment Agreement Modification Proposals" and 
dated March 28,2003"~ (though apparently prepared earlier than March 28), analyzed various provisions 
of the proposed contract and offered the following: 
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"Vedder Price Analvsis 

It is rare to pay out executive incentive deferred compensation and SEW benefits prior to 
retirementkermination of employment. 

There are costs and benefits in doing so, some of which have been identified in the 
analysis prepared by management and Mercer. 

If, based on information reasonably available to it, the Committee determines that: 

the CEO has important and unique skills such that the Committee does not want to 
risk the CEO quitting now in order to access his deferred compensation and SEW 
cash, 

the NYSE has the resources to fiscally accomplish the proposed case distributions 
and there are tax and other benefits to be garnered by doing so now, and 

the going forward pay package (including SEW accruals and paydown of CAP 
account) are sufficient inducements to retain the CEO through the extended t m ,  

then the factual basis is present to adopt the proposals. 

Note, however, the documents and schedule of payments that would implement this 
proposal should be reviewed by the Committee and its advisors before the cash 
distributions are made. 

In advance of the scheduled March 28 telephonic Committee meeting, final versions of both Mercer's 
report and Vedder, Price's analysis were forwarded to Committee members on March 26 so that they 
could be considered on the March 28 call.L33 

(iv) Postponement of the March 28, 2003 Committee conference Call and 
Consideration By the Board of the Proposal at the April 4, 2003 Board 
Meeting 

Shortly before the Committee's telephonic meeting to discuss the proposal was to take place on March 
28, that meeting was cancelled. Consideration by the Board of the conkact proposal at its scheduled 
April 4 meeting was also put off. According to Grasso, the contract proposal was not addressed at the 
April Board meeting as had been planned because he chose to defer it. He explained thaf at that time, the 
NYSE had "hit a firestonn" regarding the nomination of Sandy Weill to the NYSE Board. He stated that 
he thought the NYSE would take a lot of criticism when the new contract (and payout) was disclosed and 
"didn't think we should add this to the Weill firestonn." Grasso told Ashen that he did not want .the 
contract issue to go forward at the April meeting, and to communicate his desire in that regard in that 
regard to the Committee. He recalled that he also told Langone, who agreed with his decision. 

Several directors (and Ashen) speculated (or surmised) that the issue had been tabled because of the 
imminent reconfiguration of the Committee. Indeed, as of June 2003, the composition and structure of 
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the Committee was scheduled to and, in fact did undergo changes due to the NYSE's changes in its 
governance practices. According to Ashen, it made no sense to move forward with proposed changes to 
Grasso's compensation and employment agreement when a new Compensation Committee would have to 
consider and approve those changes. 

Vedder, Price's involvement with the proposed contract ended with the cancellation of the March 28 
conference call. They did not hear back from Ashen after the conference call was cancelled and next 
heard about the Grasso contract when it was publicly announced in August 2003. 

(i) June 5,2003 

In June, the initial report of the NYSE's Special Committee on Governance was issued. Among other 
things, that Report recommended that the charter of the Compensation Committee be revised to provide 
that only non industry directors may serve as members of the Committee. Pursuant to that reform, a new 
Compensation Committee was named, and H. Carl McCall replaced Langone (who was removed from the 
Committee altogether) as Committee Chairman. 

On June 5, the old Committee held its last meeting. The substance of Grasso's proposed contract was not 
specifically discussed at that meeting. However, according to one Committee member, Langone gave an 
impassioned speech at the meeting regarding the importance of the Committee's work in making sure 
Grasso was paid adequately.134 

On June 5, following his appointment as Committee Chairman, McCall met with Langone and Ashen. . 
Langone advised McCall that the Committee had negotiated and agreed to a new contract for Grasso, 
which included a term extension and a payout of approximately $139.5 million in deferred compensation 
and benefits. McCall stated that Langone told him the Committee had signed off on the deal and was 
prepared to present it to the full Board. Langone stated that he told McCall, 'frou're not bound by what 
we've done to date," and that it was a new Committee, and "you can proceed as you see fit." According to 
McCall, Langone explained to him that the Committee had approved this arrangement in the fall of 2002 
in order to keep Grasso, who was purportedly being wooed for a job in Washington, D.C., from leaving 
the NYSE. 

McCall stated he was "shocked" by the large numbers involved and told Langone that "this is a lot of 
money." He was told by Langone and Ashen that the money was all due and owed to Grasso, had 
accumulated over Grasso's years at the NYSE and was all fully vested. McCall said he was not clear, at 
that time, as to when Grasso was entitled to collect the $139.5 million. Further, he was told that the 
Committee thought this was the right time to go ahead with the contract. He stated that he had no 
understanding from this meeting that an additional approximately $48 million in future payments would 
be due to Grasso under the terms of the proposed contract. In fact, he was clear that those future 
payments were not discussed at this meeting. Langone, however, recalled that he did not get into the 
details of the proposal with McCall, that McCall did not express shock when he met with Langone, and 
that McCall subsequently met separately with Ashen to get more details. 
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McCall stated that he walked away fiom the June 5 meeting thinking that the proposed contract was a big 
mistake and hoping that he could talk Grasso out of it. Langone and Ashen, however, stated that McCall 
didn't express any objection or concern during the meeting. 

(ii) June 12,2003 

On June 12, Ashen and Mischell met with McCall to discuss the proposal in further detail, as they had 
with each of the Committee members in March. Mischell stated that Ashen, as he had during the March 
meetings, offered to go through the full 15-page Mercer report line-by-line, but that McCall declined. 
McCall recalled being provided with a copy of Mercer's full report, and the proposal, and being told that 
the proposed deal would save the NYSE $2-3 million but did not have a specific recollection of a meeting 
with Ashen and Mischell. Mischell recalled that Ashen went through the two page summary with 
McCall. Mischell stated that the meeting lasted between 15 and 30 minutes and that the $48 million in 
future payments under the contract were not discussed, although they were detailed in the Mercer report. 

Ashen stated that in addition to the hfercer report and the two-page summary, he provided McCall with a 
summary of Grasso's deferred compensation and benefits and a compensation history for NYSE senior 
executives. He also stated that he explained to McCall that the "vested CAP" portion of the $139.5 
million could be forfeited under the 1999 contract if Grasso left the NYSE prior to retirement. 

(iii) June 24, 2003 

On June 24, Grasso and McCall had a one-on-one meeting during which the proposed contract extension 
and payout were discussed. (According to McCall, this meeting took place in Grasso's office and lasted 
30-40 minutes.) In preparation for the meeting, Ashen gave Grasso a packet of material he had given to 
McCall, including a summary of his deferred compensation and benefits and analysis of proposed 
changes to his employment agreement.'35 

McCall said he scheduled a meeting with Grasso to discuss the contract proposal and to verify that what 
he had been told by Ashen and Langone regarding the proposal was accurate. Specifically, McCall stated 
that he sought to confirm with Grasso that, as Langone had told him, Grasso wanted to move forward 
with the agreement at the August Board meeting. McCall stated that Grasso told him he did, in fact, want 
to go through with it. Specifically, McCall recalled that Grasso said he had been advised by his lawyer 
that it was important to take the money now and that he wanted to take the money at this point because he 
was concerned that a future Board might try to deprive him of the benefits he had accumulated. McCall 
stated that Grasso did not provide a reason for his concem that a future Board might deny him these 
benefits. 

According to Grasso, McCall voiced concem over the payout, saying he thought it would produce 
controversy, a sentiment shared by Grasso. McCall said he specifically told Grasso that he was especially 
concerned with the payout given the environment that existed regarding executive compensation issues 
and the spotlight that had been placed on the NYSE, and Grasso himself, as a result of the Sandy Weill 
incident. McCall said he attempted, without success, to change Grasso's mind with regard to going 
fonvard with the contract. While Grasso recallcd McCall expressing concern over the proposed deal, he 
stated that McCall did not attempt to dissuade him from taking the payout. 
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At the end of the meeting, McCall inquired as to whether other Board members who had not been on the 
Compensation Committee were aware of the issue and Grasso told him they were not. McCall and 
Grasso agreed that McCall would contact all Board members who were not on the Compensation 
Committee to advise them of the proposed new contract. 

According to McCall, immediately following his June 24 meeting with Grasso, he spoke with Ashen and 
asked him to get him a list of Board members whom Ashen believed had no knowledge of the proposed 
agreement. McCall asked for the list so that he could contact them and let them know about the contract 
proposal. Ashen volunteered to make the calls himself or to assist McCall in doing so, but McCall 
rejected his offer. Ashen agreed this conversation took place, but stated that it happened after the July 14 
Committee meeting, discussed infra, at which the Committee voted to recommend the contract proposal 
to the Board at the August 7 Board meeting. Grasso had a similar recollection, and said that Ashen 
informed him after the July 14 meeting that McCall would be calling all non-Committee members to 
inform them about the proposal so that they did not first hear of it at the August 7 meeting. 

i. July 2003 

(i) Phone Calls By McCall to Board Members 

During July 2003, McCall made calls to numerous (according to him, 18-20) Board members to inform 
them of the proposed Grasso contract. McCall advised the Board members he called that the proposed 
contract had two main provisions: (I) a contract extension of two years; and (2) a payout to Grasso of 
$1 39.5 million in deferred compensation and benefits that were already accrued and to which Grasso was 
entitled. According to McCall, the majority of Board members he spoke to expressed "shock" and 
thought that this was a "big mistake." McCall said he asked these Board members to call Grasso to 
express their opposition to the deal. (Ashen said that these calls took place after the July 14 Committee 
meeting, and McCall agreed that at least some or many of the calls may indeed have taken place after July 
14.) 

(ii) July 7,2003 

Sometime prior to July 7, 2003, Grasso called McCall and suggested that he speak to Ashen and Martin 
Lipton of Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, who represented the Board on a number of matters, regarding 
the disclosure of Grasso's proposed new contract. McCall met with Ashen and Lipton on July 7,2003, in 
McCall's office. At that time, according to McCall, Lipton told McCall that, because the new governance 
guidelines passed in June 2003 required that compensation matters relating to the top five NYSE officers 
be reported in the Annual Report - which is issued in March of each year -there was no reason for the 
NYSE to disclose the new Grasso agreement in August, even if it was approved by the Board at that time. 
McCall responded that, if the Board endorsed the arrangement in August, it would need to be disclosed at 
that time. According to McCall, Lipton did not push back on the issue. 

(iii) July 14, 2003 

On July 14,2003, the newly composed Compensation Committee me1 for the first time and discussed the 
proposed changes to Grasso's employment contract.'36 This was McCall's first meeting as Committee 
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Chair. In attendance were McCall (Chair) and directors Allison, Fink, Kannazin, Levin and Schrempp. 
Others in attendance included Ashen and ~ischel l . '~ '  

At this meeting, Ashen reviewed for the Committee the discussions and analysis that had been going on 
for about a year concerning possible amendments to and extension of Grasso's employment contract. 
Ashen pointed out that the Committee had received input from Hewitt, Mercer and Vedder, Price, and 
that McCall had engaged in discussions with Martin Lipton of Wachtell Lipton on the subject of 
disclosure of the amendments to Grasso's contract. 

The Committee had before it on this date Mercer's final report on the financial consequences to the 
NYSE and Grasso of the proposed changes. Mercer's July report, entitled "Financial Analysis of 
Proposed Changes to Employment Agreement" was essentially the same as its March 2003 report, except 
that the amounts of Grasso's various account balances had changed between March and ~u1y.l~' The 
proposed changes addressed by Mercer in its July report were as follows: 

0 Extend the Employment Agreement from June 1,2005 to June 1,2007. 

Amend the SEW provisions as follows: 

-Final average pay is frozen to reflect 1999,2000, and 2001 ICP awards 

-The change in mortality table that went into effect as of January 1, 2003 is rolled 
back to the prior table 

-NYSE pays the executive the amount already accrued on the Balance Sheet ($5 1,574 
as of December 3 1,2002) in September 2003 

-NYSE pays the executive the amount it accrues each year (i.e., $7,138 in early 2004, 
2005,2006 and 2007). 

The executive drops out of the Capital Accumulation Plan (CAP) 

NYSE pays to the executive the balance in his deferred compensation plan account - 
approximately $88,000[,000] (including the vested portion of his CAP account) in 
September 2003. This amount has already been accrued on the Balance Sheet. 

Each year, the NYSE pays the executive the following amounts: 

-His SESP deferral and company match ($144[,000] total) 

-The portion of his CAP award that becomes vested during the year. 

members, this meeting lasted for an hour, Ashen and Mischell walked through the proposal in great detail, and the 
Committee member asked many substantive questions about the proposal. 

137 See NYSE 012954-55. 
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In analyzing these proposed changes, Mercer noted, among other things, that under his 1999 contract, 
Grasso's projected SERP payout at June 1, 2005 was $82,713,000 (or more if future ICP awards 
increased his average pay). Under the proposed agreement! the report set forth, "Executive receives 
$51,574[,000] in September 2003" and "Executive receives $7,138[,000] in early 2004, 2005, 2006, and 
2007." 

Mercer's report summarized the payments in five bullet points as follows: 

Pay Grasso the following amounts as of September 2003: 

SERP $ 51,574,000 
SERP Transfer 33,608,000 
SESP 6,368,000 
CAP 13,218,000 
Deferred ICPLTIP 29,618,000 
Vested Special Benefits 5.100.000 
Total $139,486,000 

The proposed changes save the NYSE $3,601,000 on a net after-tax, present-value basis. 

The proposed changes cost Grasso $1,433,000 on a net after-tax, present-value basis. 

In addition, the proposed changes to the Employment Agreement protect the NYSE 
against higher costs that could result if future ICP awards are higher or the IRS further 
improves the mortality table. 

Most importantly, the proposed contract changes extend the initial contract term from 
June 1,2005 to June 1,2007. 

The Committee met in Executive Session to address the proposed contract. At the conclusion of the 
session, the Committee emerged and stated that it had voted to approve the proposed changes to Grasso's 
employment agreemenf as set forth in Mercer's report, and to recommend those changes to the full 
Board. The Committee also directed Ashen to develop a template for how those changes would be 
disclosed in the NYSE's Amual Report, and to prepare a summary of Grasso's current agreement and to 
circulate that prior to the August Board meeting. 

In addressing the proposed new agreement, some of the holdover Committee members expressed strong 
feelings that the Committee already had made a commitment to Grasso to proceed with the new contract, 
and that the new contract had been agreed to by the Committee and Grasso, and thus should be honored. 
(At least one holdover member stated that he understood the proposed changes would save the NYSE 
money, and was simply concerned with getting the deal done and disclosed as soon as possible for fear 
that the longer it dragged on, the more likely it was to be seen as having taken place "under my watch.") 
In response to questions raised by at least one Committee member as to the validity and binding nature of 
the prior compensation and benefits awards, it was explained (by Ashen and/or other Committee 
members) that Grasso was, in fact, entitled to the money he would be receiving under the new contract 
(i.e., it was vested), that the Committee had approved the various benefits over time, and that the proposal 
had been vetted by consultants. McCall stated that he remained concerned about the proposed new 
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contract, but relied upon the representations of holdover Committee members in these regards and went 
along with them in voting to bring the proposal before the Board for approval. 

According to Ashen, sometime after the July 14, 2003 Committee meeting, and prior to the August 7, 
2003 Board meeting, Ashen and McCall had a conversation in which they agreed that the Bornd should be 
advised of the contract proposal in advance of August 7. Ashen suggested that he call all the Board 
members and tell them about it, but McCall told Ashen that he would do it. McCall then made calls to 
several Board members to let them know of the contract proposal. (As noted supra, McCall said this 
conversation with Ashen occurred on June 24, and that his subsequent calls to the Board occurred 
beginning earlier, in late June or early July.) Grasso said he was told by Ashen after the July 14 meeting 
that McCall would be calling all non-Committee directors to advise them of the issue. 

Grasso said he knew this meeting was occuning and was told after the meeting by Ashen and perhaps 
McCall that the Committee was going forward with the proposal. Grasso said he had not spoken with any 
Board members outside of the Committee about the proposed contract up to this point. He said that, by 
this time, he had spoken with at least two Committee members about the fact there would be controversy 
surrounding the payout, but had not had any conversations with Committee members during which 
anyone suggested to him that he not take the payout. 

(iv) July 29, 2003 

By e-mail dated July 29,2003, Mischell transmitted a letter to Ashen containing calculations of the SEW 
benefit that would be payable to Grasso at the end of the proposed contract (i.e., "as of June 30, 2007"), 
under various interest rates. Mischell provided Ashen this information so Ashen would have it "in case it 
comes up at the August 7 meeting."'39 The projected lump sum payable ranged fiom SO using an interest 
rate of 4%, to $1 1.9 million using an interest rate of 3%. Thus, Mischell wrote: 

When we write the Agreement, we need to be carcful. The Agreement should not say 
that he gets $51,574[,000] in September 2003, four payments of $7,138[,000] and 
nothing else. The Agreement should say that (1) the calculation is performed at 6130107 
subject to current rules (for example, the maximum lump sum rate is 4%) and (2) all of 
the amounts described above are offset. 

In other words, what we've told the Committee so far, and what we will tell them on 
August 7> was that he is giving up two things: He is locking in Average Pay (at the 1999- 
2001 level) and we are rolling back the mortality table. We never said that he is giving 
up the possibility of getting another payment at the end of his contract if interest rates 
drop. 

j. Late July 2003 to August 6, 2003 

Between the July 14 Committee meeting and the August 7 Board meeting at which the proposed contract 
was to be discussed, the issue of the proposed renegotiation and payout was the subject of much 
discussion and debate between and among directors, and between various directors and Grasso. Some 
Board members learned of the issue for the first time during this period, and others were told it was on the 
agenda for the August 7 meeting and later were told it was off the agenda. Indeed, Grasso himself finally 
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82 

Highlight

Note
Did McCall ask to see Committee minutes or other documents evidencing the alleged agreement? Recall, Lagone allegedly told him that it was a new ball game. 



decided that the contract renegotiation and payout should not be addressed at the August 7 Board 
meeting. 

(i) Conversations Between and Among Directors 

During this timeframe, McCall continued to phone non-Committee member directors whom he believed 
were unaware of the contract proposal to advise them of the proposal and the fact that it was going to be 
presented for Board consideration at the August 7 meeting. In his conversations with these directors, 
McCall generally advised the directors that the contract involved both an extension of Grasso's term and a 
payout of $139.5 million in deferred compensation and benefits. McCall, who stated that, at that time, he 
had no bowledge or understanding of the approximately $48 million in future payments provided for 
under the contract, did not advise the duectors regarding those future payments. (As discussed, supra, 
McCall believed he began calling d~rectors some time in late June to early July.) Directors with whom 
McCall spoke were generally surprised and concerned about the size of the payout. 

Some of the directors who received calls from McCall recalled expressing concern regarding the size of 
the payout and specifically, the public reaction the payout would trigger. Reactions included: "it was 
going to be explosive"; "I thought we had a serious problem."; "This is a mistake"; and "We're dead 
Carl." 

Some of the directors who received calls from McCall recalled questioning him as to whether Grasso was 
legally entitled to the money and, if so, when he was entitled to the money (i.e., whether was vested), and 
whether consultants had looked at the proposal. These directors recalled McCall assuring them the 
money had been properly awarded and accrued, that Grasso was, in fact, entitled to it at retirement, and 
that consultants had vetted the proposal. 

After speaking with McCall, several directors contacted other Board members to discuss the issue and 
share their concerns. There was an overwhelming sense among Board members that the payout at very 
least presented significant problems in terms of "optics," i.e., how it would be received publicly. 

(ii) Conversations Between Grasso and Various Directors 

Several directors stated that, during this time frame, either at McCall's behest or on their own, they 
contacted Grasso to express their concem over the proposed contract, and to encourage Grasso to not take 
the payout. The primary concem raised by these directors was the negative publicity that would result 
from the payout and the impact it would have on the NYSE. One of these directors stated he told Grasso, 
"you won't survive this" if you take the payout, and explained that the NYSE could not give a public 
servant $140 million in return for a mere contract extension. 

According to Grasso, between July 14 and the August 7 Board meefing, he received calls from at least 
two Board members. He stated that he may also have received a call from a third director during this time 
frame, but was not sure. In any event, he did not recall a "flurry of calls." He explained that both 
directors called to express concerns about the publicity that would surround disclosure of the payout. 
While he stated that neither tried to talk him out of taking the payout, he "sensed from both they would've 
preferred I not take the draw down." Both of these directors stated they, in fact, told Grasso not to take 
the payout. 
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During his conlrersation with one of these directors, Grasso expressed his 'Trepidation" regarding the 
payout. According to Grasso, the director had told him he was happy Grasso was staying, but concerned 
that the publicity surrounding the payout would be bad. He said that he told Grasso that he should defer 
taking his payout until retirement. In response, Grasso told the director he didn't want to do that because, 
while confident the current Board would honor his benefits, he was concerned a future Board might try to 
deny him those benefits. Grasso asked, "What's to prevent a future Board from saying 'that was a 
different Board"'? While Grasso did not recall discussing this issue with any other directors, at least two 
other directors recalled Grasso conveying to them a concern along these same lines at some point during 
the renegotiation process. One director recalled Grasso expressing concern whether he had a valid claim 
to the deferred compensation and benefits he had built up. 

(iii) Grasso Decides to Put the Proposal Off 

At some point prior to August 7, Grasso decided to table the coniract proposal. He explained that he did 
so because he sensed from the conversations he had had with directors that there would be concem 
regarding the payout. He stated that he called McCall and told him "let's not go forward." Grasso was 
clear - in tabling the proposal, he was not changing his mind regarding the payout, he was simply, "no 
new contract." He stated that he was not saying it in an adversarial way. Rather, he explained, he was 
saying "My current contract expires in May 2005. If things are the same and you want me, we can do the 
same deal at that time" - i.e., "not now, we can revisit the issue when my current contract is up." 

According to McCall, he reported to Grasso that he had been receiving negative feedback from the Board 
about the proposal. Specifically, McCall told Grasso that several Board members had told McCall that 
the proposal was "bad timing" given various things going on at the time, including: (1) the investigation 
of specialists at the NYSE; (2) the fact that govemance issues were prominently in the news at the time; 
and (3) the fact that the NYSE's analysis of its own governance was still ongoing, and the SEC was 
awaiting a report from the NYSE on that topic. Grasso advised McCall that he did not intend to move 
forward with the contract at that time because he had gotten the sense from Board members there may be 
opposition. Grasso told McCa11 that he had rcceived phone calls from a number of directors who had 
expressed concem to Grasso about going forward with his renegotiated compensation package. Grasso 
also told McCall that he had heard about McCall's calls to these directors. McCall was relieved and told 
Grasso that this was the right thing to do. 

Many directors learned prior to August 7, either through conversations with Grasso or McCall, or through 
word of mouth, that the contract proposal had been tabled and would not be on the agenda for the August 
7 Board meeting. Reaction among directors to the proposal being shelved was generally favorable. 
Several directors noted that there was a "general sense of relief." 

k. August 7,2003 

Grasso arrived at the NYSE the morning of August 7 with the understanding that the contract proposal 
was not going forward. 

According to Grasso, early that morning, he spoke separately with two Committee members and told 
them that he had called off the consideration of the contract at that time. He recalled they both had 
similar reactions. They told him they thought it was a mistake and that they would speak to McCall 
about it. 
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(i) Compensation Committee Meeting 

The Compensation Committee met at approximately 8:00 a.m. In attendance were McCall (Chair) and 
directors Allison, Fink, Karmazin, Levin and Schrempp. Ashen was also present.140 At this meeting, the 
issue of the proposed amendment to Grasso's employment contract was raised, despite not being on the 
meeting agendaJ4' At the outset of the meeting, McCall reported that, as a result of calls he had received 
from Board members expressing opposition to the proposed contract, Grasso had elected not to proceed 
with the proposed contract at that time. Thus, McCall explained, the proposal had been tabled and would 
not be presented to the Board that day. McCall also reported to the Committee that Grasso had conveyed 
to him that he had no intention of leaving the NYSE. 

A long discussion ensued among members of the Committee. Holdover Committee members strongly 
objected to putting 'off the proposed new contract and argued that it should be presented to the Board that 
day. Among other things, they contended thaL the proposal should proceed because failure to do so would 
show the public a lack of support for Grasso by the Board, which they did not believe was in the best 
interests of the NYSE. They also argued that, if the $139.5 million was due to Grasso, as they had been 
told, then it was better to pay it out and disclose it at this point than waiting for it to perhaps grow higher. 
In addition, the Committee discussed that, according to Mercer's analysis, the proposal was financially 
beneficial to the NYSE. 

The Committee then directed Ashen to find Grasso and bring him to the meeting. Ashen said that he then 
left the Committee meeting and went to Grasso's office to tell him his presence had been requested at the 
meeting. The Committee continued to discuss the issue at this time. Grasso said he was in his office 
when Ashen came and told him the Committee wanted to see him. Ashen informed Grasso that a number 
of Committee members thought it was mistake to call off the proposal and wanted to go forward. Grasso 
stated that he was not surprised because of the conversations he had earlier that morning with the two 
Committee members. 

When Grasso arrived at the mccting, the Committee explained to him that it wanted to go forward with 
the proposal, and wanted to hear his point of view. Grasso stated that he told them he sensed several 
directors were co=cerned regarding the publicity that would likely result from the large payout, and thus 
he had told McCall to put the proposal off. He added that, assuming conditions were the same in May 
2005 - that he was in good health and the NYSE still wished to retain him - he would agree to do the 
same contract at that time. According to Committee members, the Committee asked Grasso if he wanted 
to proceed with the proposed new contract and Grasso said something to the effect of, "it's up to you." 
Grasso stated that he was in the meeting for probably less than 15 minutes and was then excused. 

After Grasso left the meeting, the Committee voted unanimously to recommend to the Board that the 
proposed contract be approved. After the Committee meeting ended (at about 9: 15 a.m.), Ashen informed 
Grasso that the Committee had decided to go forward with the proposal and present it to the full Board for 
its approval at that day's Board meeting. 

140 See NYSE 000029-30. 
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(ii) Interval Between Compensation Committee Meeting and Board Meeting 

Immediately after the Committee meeting, McCall asked Ashen to prepare for him a set of talking points 
for a presentation to the Board regarding Grasso's proposed ccmnt~act extension and payout. According to 
Ashen, because the Board meeting started later that morning, he had only about an hour to prepare 
something for McCall. According to Ashen, he suggested to McCall that he (Ashen) make a presentation 
to the Board regarding the proposal, to which McCall responded, "No." Ashen said that he then suggested 
to McCall that he at least assist him in some way in making the presentation, and McCall again refused. 

Ashen then prepared two documents: (1) a three-page handout for the ~oarcl,l" and (2) a two-page 
document outlining "Speaking Points" for ~ c ~ a l 1 . ' ~ ~  

The handout w& comprised of the first page of the "Conclusions" in Mercer's July report (page 13), 
which set forth the makeup of the $139.5 million payout, and a two-page document, entitled "Source of 
Funds," which showed "the sources of funds that would be paid to the Executive in September 2003 
should the agreement approved by the Committee be approved by the Board of Directors." The handout 
made no mention of the approximately $48 million in future payments that would be due Grasso under 
the terms of the proposed contract.'44 

The Speaking Points, which Ashen stated he had only about 15 minutes to generate, summarized the 
amounts to be paid to Grasso under the proposed conkact. In addition to outlining the $139.5 million, the 
Speaking Points addressed the future payments to be made to Grasso under the terms of the proposed 
conh-act. Specifically, the Speaking Points set forth: 

0 Under the heading Reeardinr! Dick's SEW Benefit: "The Exchange will pay to Dick his 
vested SERP benefit that has been accrued to date on the NYSE's balance sheet in 
September 2003 ($51.6 million) and the amount that is accrued each year ($7.1 million in 
2004,2005,2006,2007)." 

Under the heading Deferred Com~ensation: "Each year the Exchange will pay Dick his 
SESP deferral and the company match ($144,000) and the portion of the CAP account 
that becomes vested." 

Accordmg to McCall, the handout Ashen created before the Board meeting was made up of pre-existkg 
documents. Although McCall could not recall the precise date the "Sources of Funds" document was 
created, he said that he had asked Ashen to prepare it at a time prior to Grasso having tabled the proposed 
contract, when McCall believed the Board was going to consider the proposal on August 7. 
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During the interval between the Committee and Board meetings, Ashen also called Mischell of Mercer 
and informed him the proposal was going forward that day and that "we're going to the Board in 20 
minutes." Mischell, who was at his office in Princeton, New Jersey, told Ashen he could not make it to 
the meeting. (Mischell had originally been invited to attend the August 7 Board meeting but was told, 
prior to August 7, that the proposal had been put off, and, thus, he did not need to attend the meeting.) 

Shortly before the Board meeting, Ashen gave the Speaking Points and handouts to McCall. Ashen said 
he again offered to make a presentation to the Board about the contract proposal, but McCall again 
declined. 

(iii) Board Meeting 

The Board meeting began at approximately 10:30 a.m.I4= McCall presided. Present were directors Bartz, 
Cayne, Duryea, Fagenson, Hamson, Jung, Karmazin, Langone, Larson, Levm, McNamee, Purcell, Qu~ck, 
Schrempp, Sonsini, and Summers. Director Albright attended by phone. After Gmso announced the 
resignation of NYSE Vlce Chairman Robert Murphy, he retired from the boardroom. 

Ashen then entered the boardroom and passed out to the Board members the handout he had prepared. 
(The Speaking Points that Ashen had provided McCall were not distributed to the Board at large.) 
Whether Ashen stayed in the boardroom and answered questions at that point is a subject of some dispute. 
According to .4shen, at the outset of the meeting. McCall made a gesture to him that Ashen felt was a 
clear signal that McCall wanted him to leave the room, so he left the room. McCall, however, recalled 
that Ashen stayed at the meeting for a period of time and answered several (10-12) questions regarding 
the proposed payout. However, not a single Board member, aside from McCall, agreed that Ashen 
remained in the meeting other than to distribute and collect the NYSE handouts (at the beginning and end 
of the meeting). 

Notes from the Office of the NYSE Corporate Secretary taken on August 7 indicate that Ashen was at the 
meeting for about 8 minutes.'46 Notably, two directors specifically recalled that, not only was Ashen not 
in the meeting, but when one of them leaned over and quietly suggested to McCall during the meeting 
that Ashen be brought in to help explain the contract proposal, McCall refused to do so. 

McCall began addressing the proposal and by most accounts struggled in explaining it. McCall provided 
the Board a short overview of the $139.5 million and the contract extension, but he achowledged to us 
that he never reviewed or used the Speaking Points that Ashen had provided him. Shortly into his 
overview, McCall was interrupted by various Board members who began discussing and arguing about 
the proposed contract. 

Many Board members commented that McCall did not clearly or adequately explain the terms of the 
proposed new contract and payout, and appeared to h o w  little about them. Many directors stated that 
there was a great deal of confusion and a tremendous lack of clarity regarding what the precise terms of 
the proposed contract were. 

All agreed that McCall made no mention of the approximately $48 million in scheduled future payments 
due to Grasso under the proposed contract (representing SERP and CAP benefits and payout of Grasso's 
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2001 $5 million special bonus). All directors also agreed that there was no discussion at the meeting 
regarding the $48 million; it never came up at all. In fact, it appears that Board members were led to 
believe that, pursuant to the contract extension and the payout of the $139.5 million, there would be no 
M h e r  accumulation of SERF' benefits or any other defened compensation or benefits. 

None of the former or current Compensation Committee members who were present at the meeting 
mentioned anything about the $48 million in scheduled future payments. At least three of the Committee 
members stated that, at the time of the August 7 meeting, they were unaware that Grasso would be owed 
approximately $48 million in future payments under the proposed agreement. 

The Board engaged in a prolonged (approximately two hours) and heated discussion regarding the 
contract proposal. During the discussion, numerous arguments were put forth both in favor and in 
opposition to the proposal. All directors were generally in favor of extending the term of Grasso's 
contract. The d~scussion and debate centered around whether Grasso should receive the $139.5 million 
payout. 

Among the main arguments put forth in favor of approving the proposed contract were the following: 

The $139.5 million was fully due and payable, and it was better to disclose it now than 
have to deal with a leak or disclosure later. 

Paying the $139.5 million now actually resulted in a $2-3 million savings to the NYSE. 

The $139.5 million could grow to a much larger number and cause theNYSE to have to 
make a much larger payout later. 

Not paying out the $139.5 million would show the public that the Board has a lack of 
confidence in, or support for, Grasso. 

Among the main arguments put forth in opposition to the proposed contract were the following: 

It was an excessive amount of money. (One director stated that he argued that $139.5 
million was simply too much money, but abandoned this argument after the 
Compensation Committee members responded that this issue had already been decided 
and that Grasso was legally entitled to the whole payout under his contract.) 

The payment of the money now would bring the NYSE and Grasso into disrepute and 
show a lack of moral compass and a lack of adherence to the same corporate governance 
standards that the NYSE imposed on its listed companies and members. 

At some point during the meeting, according to some directors, a straw poll was taken as to whether to 
approve the payout. Though the precise tally of that straw poll is unclear (several directors recalled it 
being an 11-7 vote, while others either recalled a different vote, or had no specific recollection), there 
were more directors in favor of the proposed payout than there were against it. 

Ultimately a vote was taken as to whether to approve the proposed contract terms - both the extension of 
Grasso's term and the payout. It does not appear, though, that an actual vote was taken. Rather, given the 
realization among the directors that there were more directors in favor of the proposal than against it, and 



after much discussion, the Board agreed to present its approval as unanimous. Some directors who were 
against the payout stated that, as a condition of their agreeing to present the Board's vote as unanimous, it 
was agreed that the vote would be presented to Grasso as a vote in favor of the contract extension, with 
the "strong suggestion" that he not take the entire $139.5 million payment at that time. 

Following the approval of the proposed agreement, the subject of the disclosure of the agreement was 
addressed. According to McCall, he made it clear that if the Board was going to go ahead with the deal, it 
needed to he disclosed now (i.e., "quickly") rather than later, though no specific timetable was set. He 
felt that it was best to get it out publicly and try to put the best spin possible on it, rather than have to deal 
with a leak. The Board agreed and told McCall to handle it. 

Grasso stated that he was not in the Board meeting for discussion of the issue of his contract. He 
described the executive session as "extended" and said it probably lasted 90 minutes. At the end of the 
Board meeting, he recalled, the Board invited him into the boardroom and informed him that his new 
contract had been approved, and congratulated him. 

Many Board members who were not previously familiar with the proposal (non Compensation Committee 
members) left the August 7 meeting with little to no understanding of the contract and payout. In fact, no 
draft contract had even developed at this point. McCall was delegated the authority to execute a contract 
reflecting a contract extension for Grasso with the payout of the $139.5 million in deferred compensation 
and benefits. However, of the directors inteniewed, some recalled McCall being delegated authority to 
negotiate the contract, others did not, and yet other directors said they were unclear that McCall was 
delegated the authority to both negotiate and sign the contract without it being presented first to the 
Board. 

Grasso acknowledged that he had spoken with several Board members since the August 7 Board meeting 
about what went on in the meeting. He stated that the general substance of those discussions was that 
there was a varying degree of understanding on the Board - some directors understood the proposal 
completely and some did not - and that McCall's presentation did not fully brief them regarding the 
proposal. Grasso also said he understood that at the August 7 meeting, McCall had been delegated the 
responsibility of getting the contract together to memorialize the agreement. 

Subsequent to August 7, several directors said they called Grasso to try to convince him not to take the 
payout, and at least one director stated Grasso indicated he would think about it. Grasso stated that, 
between the August 7 meeting and the signing of the contract on August 27, he did not receive any calls 
suggesting that, evcn though the Board had approved the payout, he should, in his discretion, turn the 
payout down. He did, though, recall "a couple of conversations" with one director regarding the negative 
reaction the disclosure of the payout would bring. .That director stated he told Grasso "it's going to cost 
you your job." He stated that Grasso subsequently told him that, after speaking with Martin Lipton, he 
had decided to go ahead with the new contract and payout. 

I. August 8,2003 to August 27,2003 

(i) August 12,2003 

On August 12, 2003, the Committee held a meeting during which it discussed the preparation and 
disclosure of Grasso's new agreement. In attendance were McCall (Chair) and directors Fink, Kannazin 

$ and Levin. Ashen was also present. It was decided that once the agreement had been signed by McCall 
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(on behalf of the NYSE) and by Grasso, it would immediately be disclosed in its entirety. In addition, 
Ashen was directed to have Proskauer Rose LLP ("Proskauer") begin drafting a new agreement that 
would reflect the proposal approved by the Board. 

Following the meeting, Ashen contacted Ian Levin at Proskauer, who had drafted Grasso's 1999 
agreement, and asked him to draft the new employment agreement. On that call, Ashen informed Levin 
as to the terms of the new agreement. Levin recalled asking Ashen at the time whether the NYSE had 
obtained a "reasonableness opinion" for the overall level of compensation contemplated under the new 
agreement, noting that the NYSE might want to obtain such an opinion in order to avoid problems under 
New York's Not-for-Profit Corporation Law, which required that director and oficer compensation be 
"reasonable." Levin said that Ashen told h i m  that the terms of Grasso's new agreement had been 
negotiated for months, that Wachtell Lipton, Hewitt, and Mercer had been involved in looking at the 
terms, and that the law firm of Vedder, Price had given the NYSE a reasonableness opinion. Levin stated 
that such opinions are typically given by compensation consultants, not law firms, so at the time he found 
it highly unusual that Vedder, Price had issued the reasonableness opinion. He recalled telling Ashen that 
Proskauer didn't give reasonableness opinions. Ashen stated to us that he did not obtain a reasonableness 
opinion, and that he never told Levin or anyone else that he had obtained such an opinion. 

In a call later that same day, Levin spoke with Ashen and McCall about the contract. Accordmg to Levin, 
the terms of the contract were not discussed during the call, as Ashen indicated to McCall that he had 
already briefed Levin on those terms. Levin stated that McCall simply told him something to the effect of 
"Good, go do it." Levin stated that this conversation with McCall was his only contact with the 
compensation Committee during the course of drafting the contract. 

(ii)  August 13,2003 to August 26,2003 

Between August 12 and August 27, when the contract ultimately was executed, Levin worked on drafting 
the contract. During this time, McCall was sent numcrous drafts of the contract. McCall stated that he 
talked to Ashen about the contract and that Ashen assured him that the terms of the contract were the 
same terms that had been addressed and approved at the Committee and Board meetings. McCall stated 
that relying on Ashen, he did not focus on the details of the drafts. Grasso stated that his dialogue 
regarding the contract during this time frame was exclusively with his attorney and Ashen. He explained 
that his discussions with Ashen were purely administrative or logistical in nature, regarding getting the 
contract done; they did not discuss the terms of the contract, which had been decided by the Board. 

In late August, approximately one week prior to the contract being executed and announced publicly, 
Ashen briefed Robert Zito, the head of Communications at the NYSE, about Grasso's contract. 
According to Zito, this was the first he had heard about the new contract. He stated that Ashen explained 
to Zito the terms of the agreement. Specifically, he stated that Ashen told him that, pursuant to the new 
agreement, Grasso's employment term would be extended to May 2007 and Grasso would receive a 
salary of $1.4 million, a minimum target bonus of $1 million that was not guaranteed, and would be 
allowed to draw down any funds he had in his savings and retirement plans, which totaled $139.5 million. 
Zito also stated that Ashen gave him the two-page memo entitled, "Source of F'unds""' (which had been 
distributed as part of the handout at the Board meeting), and told Zito that this memo summarized the 
$139.5 million payout. That document made no reference to the $48 million in fu tm payments due to 
Grasso under the terms of the new contract. 
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(iii) August 27,2003 

On August 27, Grasso's 2003 Employment Agreement was executed.14' Grasso siped the contract at his 
home, and noted that when he received it, it had already been signed by McCall on behalf of the NYSE. 
Grasso stated that he had reviewed the contract and that it accurately reflected his agreement. After the 
contract was signed, Grasso called McCall to thank him. 

McCall admittedly signed the contract without reading it in its entirety. He stated that he signed it based 
on (I) having been told by Ashen that the bottom line was $139.5 million, and (2) the Board having been 
advised that the bottom line was $139.5 million. The additional $48 million in future payments owed 
Grasso under the agreement is set forth in various sections of the agreement. For example, approximately 
$40 million of the $48 million is set forth in charts on pages 4 and 5 of the agreement. Specifically, the 
agreement set forth two schedules of payments (future SERP and CAP benefits) to be paid Grasso under 
the new agreement. The SEW chart in the agreement showed as follows: 

Date - Amount 
January 1,2004 $7,138,000 
January 1,2005 $7,138,000 
January 1,2006 $7,138,000 
January 1,2007 $7,138,000 

The CAP chart in the agreement showed as follows: 

Vestine Dates 
Grasso's 57th Birthday (7126103) 
Grasso's 58th Birthday (7126104) 

Amount 
$1,449,822 
$2,950,630 

Grasso's 59th Birthda?. (7126105) $3,115,866 
Grasso's 60th Birthday (7126106) $4,604,92 1 

On this same date, the NYSE issued a press release regarding Grasso's new contract. The press release 
disclosed the $1.4 million salary, at least $1 million target bonus, and $139.5 million payment of deferred 
compensation and benefits that were provided for under the terms of the c~ntract."~ The press release 
made no mention of the $48 million in future payments to Grasso called for under the contract. McCall 
stated that at this point, he had no understanding or knowledge of that $48 million. 

Before the press release went out, Robert Zito, Grasso, Ashen and McCall reviewed it. Grasso stated that 
the press release had also been sent to him at his home, and noted that he renewed it and "may have 
word-smithed it a bit, a few words," but made no substantive edits. Grasso stated that he knew the $48 
million was part of the contract when he signed it and explained that the omission of the $48 million from 
the press release was intentional. He said that it did not need to be disclosed at that time because it was 
comprised of payments in the future. He stated that he and McCall had a press conference and discussed 
all that was being paid out in August 2003. He noted that the NYSE had previously decided in June 2003 
that executive compensation would be disclosed and that future payments would be disclosed at the time 
they were made. He recalled this being explained at a September 9 or 10 press conference, and noted that 
"it was Carl's decision." 
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Following the August 27 press release, at least one director recalled the Board being faced with "days and 
days and days of damage control." 

m. September 2003 

(i) Early September 

On September 2, Will~am H. Donaldson, Chairman of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 
sent a letter to McCall after the NYSE announced on August 27, 2003, the unanimous approval of 
Grasso's 2003 agreement."' In the letter, Donaldson wrote that, "In my view, the approval of Mr. 
Grasso's pay package raises serious questions regarding the effectiveness of the NYSE's current 
governance structure." He further wrote that, "[vo better assess the steps that the NYSE has taken to date 
with respect to its govemance processes, we need full and complete information about the procedures and 
considerations that governed the award of Mr. Grasso's pay package." The letter further enclosed a two 
page list of questions regarding the terms of the pay package and related items and the process of their 
approval, and requested supporhng documentation related thereto. McCall, Grasso, Ashen, and Ashen's 
staff spearheaded the NYSE's response to Chairman Donaldson's letter. 

On or about September 2, Grasso received payment (in two installments) of the $139,486,000 provided 
for under the 2003 ~ontract.'~' 

In early September, the issue of the at least $48 million owed Grasso in future payments, unknown to 
most Board members before this time, began to surface. 

Shortly after September 2, many Board members learned of the $48 million for the first time in 
connection with the NYSE's preparation of its response to the SEC's September 2 letter. In early 
September, Grasso met with several directors who expressed that they were unaware that Grasso was 
owed at least an additional $48 million in future payments under the 2003 agreement. Grasso stated he 
had believed they all knew about this matter because he thought it was in the presentation and materials 
McCall had given the Board on August 7. Grasso then asked Ashen to give him what he had given 
McCall at the Board meeting. (He stated that, at or around this time, Ashen showed him the handout 
from the August 7 Board meeting. Grasso also stressed that Ashen had given McCall a term sheet in June 
that set forth all of the contract terms.) 

(ii) September 5,2003 

According to McCall, on September 5, 2003, he was at the NYSE to attend a meeting of the Special 
Committee on Governance. Just prior to the meeting, McCall was called into Grasso's office, with Ashen 
present, and Grasso said that he was entitled to an additional $28 million in future payments which would 
have to be disclosed in the SEC response letter. McCall said that he had never heard about the $28 
million, but Ashen and Grasso responded that it had been disclosed to and discussed with McCall. 
According to McCall, neither Grasso nor Ashen said anything at that time about another $20 million in 
future payments that were part of the $45 million. 
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McCall stated that, at the Governance meeting, the issue of the additional $28 million was raised. When 
asked by one director whether there was any more money owed Grasso, McCall stated that Ashen 
responded that there was another $20 million in future payments as well. 

Grasso stated that he was in attendance at the September 5 Governance meeting. He specifically recalled 
the $28 million (or the $48 million) coming up. He stated that he did not think the full $48 million was 
discussed at that meeting, as he thought the additional 520 million was only raised subsequently. Grasso 
recalled that a number of directors indicated it was first time they heard of these future payments. He 
noted McCall "couldn't have possibly" been hearing it for the first time. 

After the Governance meeting, McCall said he was again asked into Grasso's office. Already present 
with Grasso were Ashen, Lipton, and Langone. Grasso also recalled meeting with McCall, Lipton, Ashen 
and Langone in his office on the day of the Governance meeting. McCall said that Grasso told him that 
he felt he should take the $48 million because he felt that not doing so would disparage and undermine 
the process of the Committees and Boards that had gone through the review and approval process and 
endorsed the agreement. 

According to Grasso, they discussed the fact they would have to disclose the additional $48 million in the 
NYSE's response to the Chairman Donaldson's letter. He recalled McCall (at that meeting or another) 
professing that he did not know there was another $48 million, even though it was in the conbact. Grasso 
recalled telling McCall that it was clearly laid out in the contract and that "if we changed anything, it 
would be a repudiation of the whole contract." Grasso stated that Lipton also said that any change would 
be a repudiation of the contract, and that Langone and Ashen just agreed. 

Grasso's recollection was that McCall was uncomfortable with the disclosure of the $48 million, but did 
not ask him to forego taking the money. McCall said he strongly suggested that Grasso not take the $48 
million, but Grasso indicated that he would take the money and the others supported him. McCall said he 
also advised Grasso not to take the $48 million in a subsequent conversation they had, and that he 
explained to Grasso that he believed taking the $48 million would be damaging to Grasso personally. 

(iii) September 8,2003 

A Compensation Committee meeting was held on September 8 to discuss the events that had taken place 
since the NYSE announced Grasso's 2003 contract, and to discuss how to respond to the SEC's inquiry 
surrounding Grasso's 2003 contract and compensation.'52 In attendance were McCall (Chair) and 
directors Allison, Fink, Karmazin and Levin. Also in attendance was Ashen. The Committee voted not 
to recommend renegotiation of the contract, and to immediately disclose to the public the response as well 
as the agreement. 

(iv) Directors' Reactions to the $48 Million in Future Payments 

Several directors recalled receiving a call from McCall prior to the September 9 Board meeting advising 
them that there was a problem and saying that he had just learned of an additional $48 mllion in future 
payments owed Grasso under the 2003 contract. Other directors said they learned of the additional 
monies owed Grasso through phone conversations with other Board members who themselves had just 
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learned of the issue. Yet other directors first learned of the additional $48 million when they received the 
draft response to the SEC on September 8 or 9. 

There was a general sense of disbelief amongst directors in learning that Grasso was owed at least an 
additional $48 million in future payments under the 2003 agreement. Some directors expressed anger 
over the fact that they had not been advised of any future payments at the August 7 Board meeting and 
had in fact been told that the $139.5 million was the sum total of what was to be paid to Grasso in 
deferred compensation and benefits. There was also a general feeling that this additional money would be 
a huge problem given that the NYSE had just issued a press release which made no mention of the $48 
million in future payments owed Grasso under the 2003 contract. 

n. September 9,2003 

On September 9, a telephonic Board meeting was held, at which the Board discussed the NYSE's 
response to the SEC's September 2 letter and the $48 million in future payments provided for in Grasso's 
2003 employment agreement.ls3 Chairman Grasso presided. Present were directors Albright, Allison, 
Britz, Cayne, Duryea, Fagenson, Fink, Harrison, Jung, Karmazin, Kinney, Langone, McCall, McNamee, 
Mack, O'Neal, Paulson, Purcell, Quick, and Sonsini. Others present included Ashen and Lipton. A draft 
response to the SEC's letter, and exhibits thereto, had been prepared and circulated to the Board the prior 
evening, though not all directors received the exhibits. 

Included in the draft response was reference to the $48 million. All agreed that when directors saw 
Grasso was entitled to future payments, many expressed surprise and dismay in response to this 
disclosure. 

According to some d~rectors, as well as notes of the meeting, dunng the call, Lipton stated that he had 
reviewed the NYSE's draft response and commented that the $48 million in future payments provided for 
under the 2003 agreement had been earned by Grasso and was legally his.154 

The Board then went into Executive Session, at which point Grasso and Lipton left the call. A discussion 
ensued regarding whether to demand that Grasso not take the $48 million. Prior to the Board reaching a 
conclusion on the issue, Grasso Intempted the Executive Session and announced he had decided to 
forego receipt of the $48 million.155 Grasso was praised by the Board for h ~ s  decision. 

The minutes of the September 9 meeting reflect that "Chairman Grasso informed the Board that he had 
determined to forego receipt of his remaining prior earned compensahon, thereby foregoing the future 

153 See NYSE 024268-69. 
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uncomfortable regarding the disclosure of the additional $48 million. He stated that he told Lipton he was going to go 
back on the call and say he would not take the $48 million. According to Grasso, he simply shared with Lipton that he 
had made that decision. Grasso explained that Lipton responded, " I don't think that's a good idea." He indicated that 
he understood why Grasso was doing it, and even said that people on the Board call were uncomfortable with the $48 
million. According to Grasso, Lipton believed that Grasso was entitled to the $48 million. Grasso noted that Lipton 
may have been on the call with him and the Board call at same time. Grasso explained that he then dialed back into the 
call and said to the Board that he recognized their discomfort and that people had been confused and, therefore, he had 
decided to "forego" the $48 million. He stated that he thanked the Board and that the directors were genuinely 
appreciative. 

Highlight

Highlight

Note
Whose financial interests was Lipton representing?

Highlight

Highlight

Note
Why was Lipton required to leave the meeting (with Grasso) when he (Lipton) supposedly represented the BOD?



payments of approximately $48 (Draft minutes of the September 9 meeting reflect that 
Grasso determined he would forego the $48 million and that "[tlhe Employment Agreement will be 
revised ac~ordi i~ l~ ." ) '~ '  Ian Levin stated that, subsequent to the September 9 Board meeting, he was 
contacted by Ashen about drafting an amendment to Grasso's contract memorializing the waiver. Levin 
said that he drafted the amendment, but that it had not been forwarded to the NYSE because he never 
heard back from Ashen as to who it should be sent to. 

After the meeting, McCall signed the NYSE's response letter to the SEC. That letter included the 
following statement: "Mr. Grasso has informed the Board of Directors that he has determined to forego 
receipt of [the $48 mil~ion]."'~~ (G~asso stated that he understood the response would reflect what he had 
said in this regard.) The submission was prepared by Grasso and the entire staff, and was signed by 
McCall in Grasso's oftice. Grasso himself served as the principal contact with the SEC. All of the 
materials sent to the SEC were then made available to the press. A press conference was held, with 
McCall and Grasso present. McCall stated that, while the NYSE's August 27 press release had indicated 
that the Board approved a $139.5 million payout to Grasso in connection with his 2003 employment 
agreement, theNYSE's response to the SEC indicated that there was another $48 million in payments due 
Grasso under that agreement, but that Grasso had foregone receipt thereof. 

o. September 17,2003 

(i) Scheduling of the September 17 Board Meeting 

On September 17, 2003, a telephonic Board meeting was conducted at Grasso's behest. Grasso stated 
that he called this Board meeting because there had been an enormous media and political call for him to 
step down. He recalled that on September 17, two State treasurers and two Democratic Presidential 
candidates (Joseph Lieberman and John Edwards) had called for his resignation. Because the Board had 
given their unanimous support to him on August 27 and September 9, he wanted the Board to hear about 
these calls far him to step down and to reflect their thoughts. Grasso was also conccmed about press 
reports that certain directors were having side meetings in an effort to force him out. 

(i i)  Board Meeting 

The telephonic Board meeting commenced at approximately 415  p.m.159 Chairman Grasso presided. 
Present were directors Albright, Allison, Bartz, Britz, Cayne, Duryea, Fagenson, Fink, Harrison, Jung, 
Karmazin, Kinney, Langone, Levin, McCall, McNamee, Mack, Paulson, Purcell, Quick, Sonsini and 
Summers. Others in attendance included Ashen and Lipton. 

At the outset of the meeting, Grasso read the following written statement to the Board, which had been 
drafted by his attorney and edited by Grasso: 

I want to start by saying that I have tried to analyze the current situation from as many 
perspectives as I can objectively, and while I say this with the deepest reluctance, the best 
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alternative, it seems to me, is that I should submit my resignation at the next board meeting if you 
wish me to do so, for the benefit of the NYSE and to help preserve what we have tried together to 
build over the last 35 years and I look forward to supporting the Board and the NYSE in bringing 
about a smooth transition to a successor management team. I believe this course is in the best 
interest of both the NYSE and 

Grasso noted he also told the Board about the various statements and calls for his resignation that had 
been made by politicians and State treasurers. At 4:22 p.m., Grasso left the call as did Britz, Kinney, 
Ashen and Lipton. 

Following Grasso's announcement, the Board went intb Executive Session. With McCall presiding over 
the meeting, a long discussion ensued regarding the issue Grasso had presented. 

Ultimately, by avote of 13-7, the Board decided to accept Grasso's resignation. 

E. The Structure/Functional Operation of the NYSE as It Relates to Issues 
Regarding Grasso's Compensation 

As part of our Investigation of matters relating to Grasso's compensation, we examined several aspects of 
the NYSE's structure and functional operations that,> for various reasons, became relevant to 
compensation issues.16' The information we learned concerning these aspects of the NYSE is set forth 
below. 

1. Board Appointments 

During his tenure as Chairman and CEO, Grasso had significant input as to the composition of the NYSE 
Board of Directors. Although the NYSE had an independent Nominating Committee responsible for 
electing Board members, Grasso had significant input with respect to the composition of the Nominating 
Committee and was instrumentalin determining the composition of the Board. 

Throughout Grasso's tenure, pursuant to Article V of the NYSE Constitution, the Nominating Committee 
was comprised of eight members, four of whom satisfied the definition of public director, and four of 
whom satisfied the definition of industry director. Members of the Nominating Committee were selected 
by the current Nominating Committee. The NYSE Constitution provided that, in selecting members of 
the Nominating Committee, the Committee was to consider "representatives from all Exchange 
constituencies, taking care to avoid having any undue concentration of such nominees from any one area 
or industry.'' The Constitution further provided that the Nominating Committee be divided into two 
classes, with each class consisting of two public and two industry persons, whose terms shall expire in 
alternate years. The Chairman of the Committee is elected annually, with the Chairman alternating year- 
to-year between a public person and an industry person. 

The Constitution expressly provided for the Committee to act independently of the Board. The 
Constitution stated that the "Board shall have no control over or power with respect to the Nominating 
Committee," and further provided that no directors shall be eligible to serve on the Committee. However, 

160 See NYSE 002878 
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the Nominating Committee was not prevented from soliciting the views of the Chairman or other 
members of the Board. 

The main purpose of the Committee was to come up with a slate of nominees to recommend to the Board, 
present the slate to the Secretary of the Exchange who, upon receipt, notified the members of the 
Exchange of the names of such nominees. In selecting nominees, the Committee sought nominees 
"committed to serving the interests of the public and sfxengthening the NYSE as a public securities 
market." 

While Chairman and CEO, Grasso took an active role in the affairs of the Nominating Committee and 
provided direct input into the composition of the Committee. Grasso kept apprised of nominees to the 
Committee and advised the Committee which nominees he preferred. Often, Grasso's preferred nominees 
were elected.16z Grasso also provided input regarding which member would serve as the Committee's 
chair.I6' One former director even referred to the Nominating Committee as being "basically his team." 

Through his interaction with the Nominating Committee, Grasso also heavily influenced who was 
appointed to the Board. During Grasso's tenure, the NYSE Constitution provided that the Board consist 
of 24 directors elected by the members of the NYSE, a Chairman of the Board, the Executive Vice 
Chairman, if there be one, and the President, if there be one. The Constitution further provided that 
Directors consist of twelve public and twelve industry directors, divided into two classes of twelve each 
(six public and six industry directors), whose terms of office expired in alternate years. The Constitution 
further prescribed parameters for both public and industry directors. Directors were prohibited from 
serving more than three consecutive terms. 

Grasso took an active role in the selection of Board members. The NYSE Constitution, Article V, set the 
procedures to be followed by the Nominating Committee and provided for the Chairman of the Board to 
have a consultative role to the Committee: "[Tlhe Chairman of the Board shall meet with the Nominating 
Committee prior to March 1 of each year to report on the needs of the Board and to provide any other 
information relevant to the work of the Nominating Committee." Grasso, as a matter of course, was 
significantly more involved than provided for under the Constitution. 

Grasso made it clear to the Committee that he believed it was important for the CEOs of the top five or 
six financial fums to serve on the Board. While it is not a requirement for Board members to be CEOs, 
Grasso made a point of recommending that only CEOs of organizations be appointed to the Board. 
Grasso would give the Committee a range of names to fill vacancies. It appears that, in practice, Grasso 
selected many on the Board members by referring to the Nominating Committee candidates whom Grasso 
wanted to have on the Board and the Nominating Committee then approved those  choice^.'^ 

As a result of Grasso having influence both as to the composition of the Nominating Committee and the 
Board, in Grasso's later years as Chairman - years when his compensation reached very high levels - he 
had a hand in selecting the Board members who decided on his compensation. 

I62 See NYSE 004104-05,004027-28. 
161 See N Y S E  006775-78,00354041,008333-34. 
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2. Compensation Committee Appointments 

Not only did Grasso have significant input in the selection of Board members throughout his tenure; he 
also had the unfettered authority to select which Board members served on the Compensation Committee 
and, likewise, to select the Committee Chair. Thus, Grasso hand-selected the members of the Committee 
charged with reviewing and recommending his yearly compensation. 

Members of the Compensation Comrmttee at the NYSE were appointed in June of each year, at the same 
time that all other committee assignments were made. Pursuant to the charter under which the Committee 
operated since 1995, members of this Committee were appointed by the Chairman and approved by the 
Board, with the Chairman selecting the Chair of the Committee: 

RESOLVED, that the RESOURCES] POLICY AND COMPENSATION 
COMMITTEE shall consist of such number of Directors as shall be appointed by the Chairman . . 
and approved by the Board, one of whom shall be selected by the Chairman to serve as presiding 
member."' 

Grasso acknowledeed that. each vear. he made his recommendations to the Board concernine Committee - . . ., 
assignments, including his recommendations regarding the Compensation Committee. Grasso could not 
recall a single instance in which the Board rejected one of his Committee assignment recommendations. 
Thus, in Grasso directly controlled not only which Board members s-med on this Committee, 
but also which person would serve as the Committee's Chair. 

Several members of the Committee during Grasso's tenure had friendships or personal ties or 
relationships with Grasso, including Charles Bocklet, David Komansky, Robert Murphy, Ken Langone 
and Richard Fuld. 

Also, during the years 1999-2002, when Grasso was awarded extremely high levels of compensation, 
members of the Committee earned large compensation awards at the organizations where they worked. 
According to Johnson Associates, Inc., in 1999, the four Committee members for whom compensation 
information was available earned roughly $1 1 million, $19 million, $21 million, and $35 million, for an 
average of over $21 million. In 2000, four of the five Committee members on whom we were able to 
obtain compensation information earned over $34 million, and the average earnings of that group'was 
about $34 millian. In 2001, Committee members as to whom we obtained earnings information averaged 
over $25 million in earnings and, in 2002, the average was about $20 million. Some directors we 
interviewed believed that the large amounts of compensation earned by many Committee members made 
the Committee in general less concerned about awarding large compensation amounts to Grasso. 

A number of the Committee members said that, because of their important job responsibilities in the 
business community, they were reluctant to join the Board and had to miss Committee or Board meetings 
from time to time. By way of example, one director stated that, at the time he was asked to join the 
Board, he had a conversation with Grasso about how much of a time commitment serving as an NYSE 
Director would entail and stated that he had no interest in going to a lot of meetmgs or doing a lot of 
work. He was assured by Grasso that he did not have to attend all the meetings and that it would not be 
that much work. He was placed on the Cornpcnsation Committee. 

165 See NYSE 0001 86-87. 
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Yet another director explained to Grasso when asked to join the Board that he was extremely busy and 
thus would not be able to attend many Board meetings. He, too, was placed on the Committee. Another 
Committee member who displayed poor attendance stated that he explained at the outset that his other 
duties would at times interfere with his ability to attend meetings for the NYSE. Several members of the 
Committee had relatively poor records regarding their attendance at meetings. 

Over the years, the Committee experienced frequent turnover.'66 While some Committee members served 
for a number of years, others served for only one or two years. In addition, most Committee members 
agreed that their training was fairly limited. Thus, their historical perspective and knowledge of the 
NYSE was often somewhat limited. 

3. Compensation of Certain Other NYSE Employees 

During the course of our investigation, the compensation of certain other NYSE employees became 
relevant. Specifically, we examined certain aspects of the compensation of Grasso's next most senior 
officers: COO and President, William R. Johnston, and Group Executive Vice Presidents (and later Co- 
Presidents), Catherine Kinney and Robert G. Britz. We also examined the compensation of Grasso's 
staff. 

a. Compensation Levels of Johnston, Britz, and Kinney 

In the period from 1999 through 2002, Grasso's actual compensation far exceeded the compensation 
awarded to Johnston, Kinney and Britz, as shown on the chart below. 

In addition, during this period, the Compensation Committee followed its own benchmarks much more 
closely with respect to awarding compensation to Johnston, Kinney and Britz than it did when awarding 
compensation to Grasso. The disparity is shown in the following charts. 

Year 
1999 
2000 
2001 
2002 

See Exhibit 3, list of Committee and Board mernben during Grasso's tenure, by year 
(67 See NYSE 054142,042409-1 1. 

Grass0 
$ 1 1,300,000 

26,800,000 
30,550,000 
11,999,999 

Johnston 
$4,425,000 

5,090,500 
5,800,000 

NIA 

Kinney 
$ 1,647,000 

2,322,957 
4,200,000 
3,700,000 

Britz 
$ 1,722,000 

2,332,957 
4,200,000 
3,700,000 



Officer 
Grasso 
Johnston 
Kinney 
Britz 

Officer 
Grass0 
Johnston 
Kinney 
Britz 

* This benchmark is based on an average median target for the Group Executive Vice President and 
Chief Operating Officer levels. 

Benchmark 
$1 1,087,607 
$ 3,923,834 
$ 2,010,305 
$ 2,010,305 

Officer 
Grasso 
Kinney 
Britz 

b. Large 2001 Award to Johnston 

In 2001, the Board voted to award Johnston a $6 million payment as a parting bonus when he stepped 
down as NYSE President at the end of 2001. '~~ Johnston was a non-management Board member from 
1992 to June 1996, was President of the NYSE and a staff Board member from July 1996 through 2001, 
and then became a Special Advisor to Grasso in 2002. 

Actual Comp. 
$26,800,000 
$ 5,090,500 
$ 2,322,957 
$ 2,332,957 

YO 
1 64 
86 
89 
89 

Benchmark 
$18,623,060 
$ 6,782,707 
$ 4,725,866 
$ 4,725,866 

Benchmark 
$13,919,838 
$ 5,424,376* 
$ 5,424,376* 

Under his employment contract that was in place at the time, Johnston was slated to receive a $1 million 
payment after bis contract expired at the end of 200l.'" In about the middle of 2001, however, Grasso 
asked the Compensation Committee to award Johnston a payment of $6 million in lieu of the $1 million 
payment.173 
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$ 5,800,000 
% 4,200,000 
$ 4,200,000 
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This payment, according to Grasso, Johnston, and others was (1) in thanks to Johnston for his past years 
of service at the- NYSE; and (2) in recognition that, when he joined the NYSE in 1996, Johnston left 
behind equity interests in his former firm, LaBranche & Co. LLP, and that, had he stayed at LaBranche, 
he would have made a lot of money when LaBranche went public in 1999 and its stock price subsequently 
rose significantly. 

c. Grasso Support Staff 

Over the last three years, Grasso's executive assistant was paid approximately $240,000 per year.'74 In 
2002, her salary was $188,700 and her bonus was $75,000. In 2001, her salary was $170,000 and her 
bonus was $85,000. In 2000, her salary was $150,000 and her bonus was $60,000. Grasso also used the 
services of two drivers on the NYSE payroll, each of whom earned approximately $130,000 per year.175 

4. NYSE Charitable  contribution^"^ 

In its September 2, 2003 letter to the NYSE, the SEC inquired into the relationship between the NYSE's 
charitable giving and Grasso's compensation. Specifically, the SEC sought information concerning the 
NYSE's contributions to charities that were affiliated with members of the NYSE's Compensation 
Committee. In our investigation, therefore, we have sought to determine if there is any evidence to 
support an allegation that decisions about Grasso's compensation were influenced by or connected to the 
NYSE's gifts to charities affiliated with Compensation Committee members. 

The NYSE makes charitable donations through the NYSE Foundation ("Foundation") and the NYSE 
Contributions Committee ("Contributions Committee"), and each has processes for its charitable 
giving.'77 During Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO, both the Foundation and Contributions 
Committee at times donated money to charities that were connected in some way with Compensation 
Committee members. However, we have found no direct evidence that these donations were given for the 
purpose of influencing directors' decisions on Grasso's compensation, or that they had any effect on the 
Committee's compensation decisions. Nor did we find sufficient circumstantial evidence to support such 
an allegation. 

We describe below the Foundation and Contributions Committee, their processes for making donations 
and some of the scenarios in which the, NYSE has given money to charities that were affiliated with 
Compensation Committee members. 

174 See NYSE 054558-59. 
175 See NYSE 054557. 
176 Ow investigation in this area was lirited in several respects. Far example, we could not. subpoena documents from 

charitable organizations that received donations fmm the NYSE. Nor did we interview any representative from these 
organizations. In addition, most of the information we reviewed is fmm a database maintnined by Wheeler of all 
charitable contribution requests by the NYSE. We have not attempted to independently verify whether the information 
in that database is accurate. Nor have we independently investigated each Compensation Committee member's 
charitable affiliations. Instead, we relied on the 1995-2003 biographies contained in the annual Directors Manuals 
distributed to each NYSE director. 

177 The NYSE also makes charitable donations through the NYSE Fallen Heroes Fund, which was created in 1999 as an 
Intemal Revenue Code ("IRC") 8 501(c)(3) public charity. The Fallen Heroes Fund has paid a one-time grant of 
$20,000 to the surviving spouse andor children of a New York City police officer, firefighter or emergency medical 
technical who was killed in the line of duty 



During Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO, requests for donations typically were submitted in writing 
to the Foundation or Contributions Committee and addressed to Grasso, the Secretary of the Foundation 
(Robert T. Zito and, before him James Buck) or other ind~viduals affiliated with the Exchange. These 
requests came from various sources. Some contribution recommendations came from NYSE officers or 
employees, who generally had a business purpose for the requested donation. Other requests came  om 
NYSE directors, who typically recommended donations to charities with which they were affiliated. And 
still other conmbution requests were unsolicited. 

As a control mechanism to avoid duplicate or conflicting payments, all contribution requests considered 
by the Foundation or the Contributions Committee were routed through NYSE Archivist Steven Wheeler 
for screening, processing and payment. Wheeler maintains a database of all charitable contribution 
requests for donations submitted to the Foundation and the Contributions Cownittee, as well as all 
charitable contributions by these organizations. 

The NYSE has conducted internal audits of both the Contributions Committee and the Foundation. The 
last audit was in 2000."' 

a. The Foundation 

The NYSE Foundation is a private foundation created in 1983 that has its own board of directors, by- 
laws, annual reports and guidelines.'79 NYSE directors are members of the Foundation. 

According to the 2003 Foundation Contributions Guidelines, the Foundation "will make contributions, 
within the limits of its available resources, in support of worthy educational, charitable and civic 
organizations which are exempt from taxation under 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954."~ 
The guidelines further state: "By careful selection, The Foundation will seek to ensure the 
meaningfulness of its contributions in the areas where the New York Stock Exchange has a responsibility 
to be a participatidg corporate citizen." In general, the Foundation "will support proven education, 
charitable and civic programs as  well as significant new programs in these areas. The Foundation will 
contribute to major educational and artistic institutions in New York City as the Exchange has done in the 
past." These guidelines contain no general dollar range for contributions. 

Most Foundation grants have represented annually recurring support to well-horn educational, quality 
of life and community organizations. Additionally, the Foundation's Matching Gift Program has matched 
the donations of NYSE employees and directors to eligible schools and colleges as well as arts and 
cultural organizations. 

As indicated above, the Foundation is served by its own board of directors, which is responsible for 
approving Foundation grants and managing its finances and administration. The Foundation's by-laws 
state that the board can consist of between five and thirteen directors, who are elected by the NYSE Board 
each June."' The Foundation board has met at least four times a year (always m conjunchon with a 
NYSE Board meeting), and minutes are kept of these meetings. 

- - - 
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The following directors served on the Foundation's board during Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO: 
Carol Bartz (2002-03), Geoffrey Bible (1996-2000), Benjamin Gnswold, IV (1996-98), Willlam B. 
Hamson, Jr. (2001-03), A. James Jacoby 1996-97), Will~am Johnston (1996-2001), Joseph Mahoney 
(1999-2002), Deryck Maughan (1997-2000), George C. McNarnee (2000-03), Robert Murphy (2002-03), 
Leon Panetta (1998-2002), and Christopher C. Quick (2003). These directors also served on the NYSE 
Board, but there is no requirement that this be the case. 

Zito served as the Foundation's Secretary, Keith Helsby as its Treasurer, Alan Holzer as its Controller and 
Ken Corson provided legal counsel. Grasso did not serve on the Foundation's board during his term as 
Chairman and CEO, but he did serve on the board in the mid-1980s. 

Contribution requests sent to the Foundation followed a specific protocol. Wheeler and Zito generally 
reviewed together such requests in the first instance. Zito had authority to decline requests that did not fit 
within the Foundation's guidelines or were not consistent with the NYSE's business needs. New 
contribution requests that fit within the guidelines and supported the mission of the Foundation were 
referred to its board for consideration at a subsequent meeting (usually in June, October and December). 

Grasso had no formal role in approving donations by the Foundation. But he did, on occasion, attend 
meetings and recommend donations. Such recommendations by Grasso typically were sent to Zito with a 
note "refer to Foundation." Zito fonvarded such recommendations to Wheeler, who prepared memoranda 
to the Foundation's board concerning the recommended charities. In preparing these memoranda, 
Wheeler would confirm that the charity was a legitimate 5 501(c)(3) public charity and otherwise M 
within the Foundation's guidelines. 

In February 2003, the Foundation board approved an annual Plan of Contributions, primarily prepared by 
Zito and Wheeler, that authorized grants to be paid as requests come in during the year. Grasso reviewed 
this Plan before it was submitted to the board but, again, he did not actively approve the Plan because he 
was not a Foundation board member at this time. When the underlying requests were actually received 
during the year, Zito and Wheeler reviewed the requests, and Zito generally acted pursuant to his 
delegated authority to approve "pre-approved" contributions. 

The Foundation is funded, in part, by year end contributions by the NYSE.'~-~C~ year, Grasso's 
informal policy was to contribute to the Foundation the difference between the anticipated revenue from 
NYSE disciplinary fines and the charitable disbursements made by the Contributions Committee. The 
goal of the NYSE was to donate to charities (through both the Foundation and the Contributions 
Cornmittec) an amount roughly equal to the revenue it received from disciplinary fines. The NYSE 
donations to theFoundation generally totaled between $1-3 million each year. 

The total 2002 NYSE contribution to the Foundation was about $2 million. The Foundation's Plan of 
Contributions for 2003 authorized grants totaling slightly more than $3 million.'83 The difference 
between the budgeted $3 million and the $2 million contribution from the NYSE will come from the 

The NYSE's annual contribution generally has accounted for about 99% of the contributions to the Foundation. The 
remaining I% is divided into two parts. First, NYSE Rule 41 1 requires member firms to contribute funds to the 
Foundation when they made a profit reporting error. Second, the Foundation ha. received individual contributions, but 
these were rare. 

181 SeeNYSE 013719-20. 



Foundation's corpus (and income earned on that corpus). This corpus is presently valued at 
approximately $21.5 million. 

b. The Contributions Committee 

At the time Grasso resigned, the Contributions Committee was comprised of Grasso and Zito, who acts as 
the Committee's Secretary (prior to 2002, James Buck was the Secretary). The Committee met 
informally and worked in consultation with Wheeler and his staff. No minutes have been kept of the 
Committee meetings, but Wheeler generally took notes at the meetings and documented the pertinent 
conversations. 

The Contributions Committee has donated funds to IRC 5 501(cX3) non-profit organizations and also has 
purchased tables at fundraising benefit dinners. Unlike the Foundation, the Committee can receive goods 
or s e ~ c e s  (generally meals) in return for its charitable donations. 

According to the 2003 Contributions Comm~ttee Guidelines, the Commttee fulfills the NYSE's 
"responsibilities as a corporate citizen" by contributing "to qualified organizations which further [the 
NYSE's] principal purposes or improve the quality of life in the greater New York area." These 
guidelines define NYSE purposes to "include its role as a marketplace for securihes, and as a property 
owner in the lower Manhattan area where most of its employees and members 

In general, Contributions Committee donations have been in the range of $1,000 to $25,000. The 
guidelines expressly state, however, that "[c]ontributions smaller than $1,000 or larger than $25,000 may 
be made in exceptional situations." In fact, the Contributions Committee, on multiple occasions, has 
made contributions over $25,000. 

Like the Foundation, the Contributions Committee followed a general protocol to process requests for 
donations. Zito and Wheeler together reviewed contribution requests. Based on these discussions, Zito 
acted pursuant to his delegated authority to deny requests that did not fit within the guidelines or 
otherwise did not serve the business needs of the NYSE. Zito and Wheeler referred to Grasso, for his 
review, requests that fit within the Contributions Committee guidelines and appeared to be appropriate for 
NYSE funding. All approved contributions had to bear the Chairman's written authorization or verbal 
approval as witnessed and documented by the Committee's Secretary. 

As a general policy, Zito and Wheeler forwarded to Grasso requests that, on their face, concerned a 
NYSE director, such as if the director was an honoree of the charity. Typically, however, Zito and 
Wheeler did not attempt to determine whether a NYSE director sewed on the boards of charities 
requesting donations. 

Notwithstanding this protocol, Grasso occasionally approved a particular conbibution before it was even 
forwarded to Zito or Wheeler for their review. When this happened, Grasso would u d e  on the 
contribution request letter itself a dollar amount reflecting his approved contribution, and he signed his 
name by this notation. 

In May 2003, the Contributions Committee adopted a new procedure under which a "Plan of 
Contributions" pre-approved donations to organizations and events that the NYSE had generally 
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supported on an annual basis. When the underlying requests were actually received during the year, Zito 
and Wheeler reviewed the requests, and Zito generally acted pursuant to his delegated authority to 
approve "pre-approved" contributions. 

The Contributions Committee is funded by the NYSE, and the NYSE's 2003 budget for the Contributions 
Cornmiltee is $4 million.'ss This budget, however, can be exceeded for a compelling business reason 
with the Chairman's consent. 

c. Charitable Contributions to Organizations Affiliated With NYSE Directors 

According to the NYSE charitable donations database, during the period of 1995 through 2003, the 
Contributions Committee andlor the Foundation made contributions to organizations affiliated with 
NYSE directors during their respective tenures on the Compensation Committee. The following NYSE 
directors sat on the boards of such organizations: Robert B. Fagenson, Laurence D. Fink, Richard B. 
Fisher, Richard S.Fuld, Jr., Maurice A. Greenberg, David H. Komanslty, Kenneth G. Langone, Ralph S. 
Larsen, Gerald M. Levin, Reuben Mark, Deryck C. Maughan, Henry M. Paulson, Juergen E. Schrempp 
and Linda J. Wachner. It was also common for Compensation Committee members to be honorees of 
charitable organizations that received NYSE donations. 

No person interviewed in the Investigation provided us with any evidence of a quid pro quo or direct 
connection between the NYSE's charitable donations to these affiliated organizations and Grasso's 
compensation. To the contrary, most directors dismissed as baseless the notion that NYSE charitable 
contributions in any way affected the decisions of Committee members regarding compensation awarded 
to Grasso. In addition, no document we received in the Investigation provided any direct evidence of any 
quid pro quo or other direct connection involving charitable donations and directors' compensation 
decisions. 

All of the donations under scrutiny appear to have been made to organizations that were of the type that 
fit within the guidelines of the NYSE a m  that provided the funding, either the Foundation or the 
Contributions Committee. In addition, we found no evidence of departures fkom the pertinent guidelines 
or procedures in processing these requests sufficient to raise questions about the motives underlying 
NYSE charitable activities. Requests appeared to have been channeled through the processes that were 
set in place. 

For most of the requests, there also was no strong correlation between the timing of the request and the 
service on the Committee by the Committee member affiliated with the organization that received the 
funding. In some instances, however, contributions to an organization began or were reinstated once a 
director who served on the board of directors of that organization joined the Compensation Committee. 
In these instances, however, the contributions were to legitimate charities, and many were of relatively 
modest amounts. 

In other instances, contributions made to organizations on whose boards Committee members served were 
of a sizable amount. Perhaps the most noteworthy example is the two-year planned grant by thc 
Foundation on December 7, 2000, of $500,000 per year to New York University (W) Downtown 
Hospital to support emergency room renovations. On Deccmber 6 ,  2001, the Foundation granted this 
organization an additional $500,000. Grasso and other NYSE directors have been affiliated with NYU- 



associated entities.Ig6 None of these directors, however, appears to have sat on the board of trustees for 
the NYU Downtown Hospital Itself dunng the 2000-2001 period.1g7 Moreover, the NYSE's records show 
that the Exchange had supported this hospital since 1984 because it is "Wall Street's neighborhood 
hospital," and "the NYSE community is the largest single user of its emergency facilities.lgg 

Finally, in a handful of situations, Committee members appear to have initiated charitable requests that 
were granted by the Contributions Committee or the Foundation. Such requests, however, were not 
always granted. And those requests that were granted concerned legitimate charitable organizations. 

We believe that the connections discussed above between NYSE charitable donations and Compensation 
Committee members do not constitute evidence of a causal connection between NYSE charitable 
donations and Grasso's compensation. This conclusion is consistent with the unanimous belief by those 
directors whom we interviewed that no such connection existed. In short, the organizations in question 
were historical charities supported by the NYSE or otherwise appear to fall within the pertinent 
contributions guidelines as supporting worthy causes. 

186 See NYSE 054505,054515,005384. 
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not advise the Committee that the comparator group was wholly inappropriate, but instead simply viewed 
its role as simply providing data and information to the Committee as opposed to making substantive 
recornm&dations to the Committee. Hewitt did not provide advice or substantive input to change the 
inappropriate benchmarking or to ensure that the Committee was provided with the full range of market 
data for its analysis. 

As noted directly above, compensation experts should be more substantively involved in the executive 
compensation process at the NYSE. 

D. Lack of TransparencyIDisclosures Regarding Compensation 

Very few people inside the NYSE knew about Grasso's pension accumulation. Only Ashen, two of his 
staff, the tap two flnancial 0f5cers at the NYSE, and Mercer's Mischell knew of Grasso's pension 
accumulation, except at the times it was paid out. Grasso's compensation awards were not disclosed 
outside the Board. Not even the other senior executives at the NYSE knew of Grasso's compensation 
levels. 

This lack of transparency in the compensation for Grasso facilitated the compensation and benefits levels' 
growth to unreasonable levels. Many Board members agreed that, had Grasso's compensation and benefit 
levels been disclosed outside the Board, they would never have reached such excessive levels. A number 
of Board members stated that, in thcir judgment, prior to the recent events through which Grasso's 
compensation has now become known, the members of the NYSE believed that Grasso was probably 
making about $5-7 million per year in the last few years. Thus, it is clear that a policy of public 
disclosure of Grasso's compensation would have had a strong effect on keeping Grasso's compensation 
within reason. 

Annual disclosure of top executive compensation, which the NYSE already has implemented under its 
newly adopted corporate governance practices, should address this issue. 

E. Lack of Continuity on Compensation CommitteelBoard 

The NYSE's large Board during Grasso's tenure as Chairman and CEO, coupled with the high level of 
turnover of Board and Committee members from year to year and the failure to adequately train and share 
historical knowledge about the NYSE with new Board and Committee members, contributed to a lack of 
continuity on the Committee and the Board. This lack of continuity resulted in Board and Committee 
members not having a complete frame of reference for executive compensation decisions. 

Although Ashen stated that he .provided some training to new members of the Board, and also walked 
through compensation-related issues with new members of the Compensation Committee, most 
Committee members either did not recall much compensation training or did not recall it as being very 
detailed. Many had no historical perspective on compensation decisions, and were not familiar with the 
benchmarking processes employed by Ashen or other key aspects of the compensation process. Thus, 
many Committee members certainly could have been better informed concerning a historical perspective 
on the NYSE. 

The smaller NYSE Board created after Grasso resigned should be helpful in addressing this issue. In 
addition, going forward, close attention should be paid to training new Board and Committee members 
and providing important historical information to them relating to executive compensation. 

Highlight



F. Grasso's Control Over the People and Processes that Determined His 
Compensation 

Against proper governance practice, Grasso was involved in or connected to the process that determined 
his own compensation. 

He had a strong influence in who was selected as members of the Nominating Committee and the Board, 
and he personally selected which Board members served on the Compensation Committee. Some 
directors he selected to serve on the Compensation Committee were those with whom he had or 
developed friendships or personal relationships. He also selected some of the most prominent CEOs who 
had large incomes to serve on the Board and the Compensation Committee. All of this at the very least 
created the potential for conflict of interest and improper influence. 

Grasso also determined, in his sole discretion, the "Chairman's Award" component of the annual NYSE 
performance evaluation process, which the Committee used in part to determine the annual bonus awards 
for NYSE employees generally as well as to benchmark Grasso's own compensation. Grasso knew that 
the NYSE performance was an important factor in the Board's consideration of his own compensation, 
and he increased, over the empirical criteria, the performance award each year, which effectively 
increased the benchmark for his own compensation. 

The issues concerning selection of Board members and Committee members have now largely been 
addressed through the newly revised structure of the NYSE's Board and Compensation Committee. The 
NYSE should ensure that the Chairman should not in his sole discretion select members of the 
Compensation Committee that decides his compensation. The Committee also should adopt procedures 
by which, in the future, the "Chairman's Award" is not used directly to create benchmarks for, or actual 
awards of, the CEO's compensation. 
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Exhibit I 

EXCESSIVE ANNUAL 
COMPENSATION AND PENSION BENEFIT OF 

RICHARD A. GRASS0 

I. Annual Compensation (1995-2002) 

Total Paid 
Proper Compensation 
(Per Experts Johnson, 
Cook and Foley) 

Excess Compensation 
(Per Experts Johnson, 
Cook and Foley) 1 

11. Pension Benefit (Accumulated Pension as of August 7,2003; Paid 
Pension as of September 3,2003) 

Actual Pension 
(Accumulated/ 
Paid) 

Proper Pension Per Experts 
(Accumulated,Paid) 

Johnson, Foley 

Excess Pension Per Experts 
(Accumulated/ Paid) 

Johnson, 
Cook 

$1 13,586,5291 

$82,300,202 

Foley 

TOTAL EXCESSIVE ANNUAL 
COMPENSATION AND ACCUMULATED PENSION 

$144.5 MILLION TO $156.7 MILLION 



Exhibit 2 

List of Interviews Conducted 

NYSE Board of Directors 

1. Madeleine K. Albright 

2. Herbert M. Allison, Jr. 

3. Carol Bartz 

4. Charles J. Bocklet, Jr. 

5. James E. Cayne 

6. James M. Duryea 

7. Robert B. Fagenson 

8. Laurence D. Fink 

9.  Richard B. Fisher 

10. Richard S. Fuld, Jr. 

11. Stanley C. Gault 

12. Maurice R. Greenberg 

13. William B. Harrison, h. 

14. James A. Jacobson 

15. Andrea Jung 

16. Me1 K a m e i n  

17. David H. Komansky 

18. Kenneth G. Langone 

19. Ralph S. Larsen 

20. Peter N. Larson 

2 1. Gerald M. Levin 

22. , H. Carl McCall 

23. George C. McNamee 
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24. John J. Mack 

25. Reuben Mark 

26. Bernard Marcus 

27. Lord Colin Marshall 

28. Sir Deryck C. Maughan 

29. Robert M. Murphy 

30. E. Stanley O'Neal 

3 1. Leon E. Panetta 

32. Henry M. Paulson, Jr. 

33. Philip J. Purcell 

34. Christopher C. Quick 

35. Juergen E. Schrempp 

36. Larry W. Sonsini 

37. William B. Summers. Jr. 

38. Alex Trotman 

NYSE Executives and Staff 

39. Frank Z. Ashen, Executive Vice President, Corporate Service 

40. Dale B. Bemstein, Vice President, Human Resources 

41. Mary Brienza, International Audit Group 

42. Robert G. Britz, President and Co-Chief Operating Officer 

43. Richard M. Dapcic, Internal Audit Group 

44. Richard A. Grasso, former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

45. Keith R. Helsby, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

46. Alan Holzer, Controller 

47. William R. Johnston, Senior Advisor, Office of the Chairman and former NYSE President 
and Chief Operating Officer 
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48. Catherine R. Kinney, President and Co-Chief Operating Officer 

49. Edward A. Kwalwasser, Group Executive Vice President, Regulations 

50. Richard L. Ribbentrop, Senior Vice President, Government Relations 

5 1. Darla Stuckey, Corporate Secretary 

52. Steve Wheeler, Archivist, Archives and Corporate Research Center 

53. Mary Yeager, Assistant Corporate Secretary 

54. Robert T. Zito, Executive Vice President, Communications 

55. SooJee Lee, Executive Assistant to Richard A. Grasso 

Advisors and Consultants 

56. Thomas P. Desmond, Partner, Vedder, Price, Kauffman & Kammholz, P.C. 

57. Philip Grant, Hewitt Associates LLC 

58. Jeffrey S. Hyman, Hewin Associates LLC 

59. Diane Improta, Hewitt Associates LLC 

60. Paul W. Larneo, PricewaterhouseCoopers 

61. Robert Mischell, Mcrcer Human Resource Consulting LLC 

62. Robert E. Moritz, PricewaterhouseCoopers 

63. Robert J. Stucker, President, Vedder, Price, Kaufman & Kammholz, P.C. 

64. Ian Lloyd Levin, Proskauer~Rosose LLP 



Exhibit 3 

New York Stock Exchange 
Board Of Directors 

199.5 (As of June 1995) 

Stanley C. Gault - Chair 
Richard B. Fisher 
William R. Johnston 
Ralph S. Larsen 
Bernard Marcus 
Reuben Mark 
Philip J. Purcell 

1996 (As of June 1996) t---- 
Compensation Committee 

Ralph S. Larsen - Chair 
Richard B. Fisher 
Richard S. Fuld Jr. 
Maurice R. Greenberg 
Bernard Marcus 
Reuben Mark 
Deryck C. Maughan 

1997 (As of June 1997) 

Comaensation Committee 
Ralph S. Larsen - Chair 
Richard S. Fuld Jr. 
Maurice R. Greenberg 
James A. Jacobson 
David H. Komansky 
Bernard Mar

c
us 

Reuben Mark 
Sir Colin Marshall 
Deryck C. Maughan 
Alex Trotman 

other B& 
Paul A. Allaire 
Geoffrey C. Bible 
Charles J. Bocklet Jr. 
J. Gary Burkhead 
John L. Clendenin 
Michel A. David-Weill 
Robert B. Fagenson 
Benjamin H. Griswold IV 
Stephan L. Hammerman 

Other Boa 
Paul A. Allaire 
Geoffrey C. ~ i b l e -  
Charles J. Bocklet Jr. 
J. Gary Burkhead 
Michel A. David-Weill 
Robert B. Fagenson 
Benjamin H. Griswold IV 
Stephan L. Hammerman 
James A. Jacobson 

peginning September 1996) 

Other Boa 
Geoffrcv C. Bible 
~ h a r l e s j .  Bocklet Jr. 
J. Gary Burkhead 
Michel A. David-Weill 
Robert B. Fagenson 
hchard B. Fisher 
Benjamin H. Griswold IV 
A. James Jacoby 

I Members 
A. James Jacoby 
Edgar Janotta Sr. 
Sir Colin Marshall 
Deryck C. Maughan 
Anthony O'Reilly 
Michael Robbins 
Clifton R. Wharton, Jr. 
Kathryn J. Whitmire 

l Members 
A. James Jacobv 
Edgar Janotta &. 
Sir Colin Marshall 
Anthony O'Reilly 
Michael Robbins 
Alex Trotman 
Clifton R. Wharton, Jr. 
Kathryn J. Whitmire 

l Members 
Edgar Janotta Sr. 
Leon E. Panetta 
Michael Robbins 
Linda J. Wachner 

(Beginning September 
1997) 

Clifton R.. Wharton Jr. 
Kathryn J. Whitmire 
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998(As of June 1998) 
-- - 

?ompensation Committee 
Bernard Marcus - Chair 
Robert B. Fagenson 
Richard B. Fisher 
Richard S. Fuld Jr. 
Maurice R. Greenberg 
David H. Komansky 
Kenneth G. Langone 
Sir Colin Marshall 
Deryck C. Maughan 
Alex Trotman 
Linda J. Wachner 

I999 (As of June 1999) 

Zompensation Committee 

Kenneth G. Langone - Chair 
Charles J. Bocklet Jr. 
Richard S. Fuld Jr. 
Maurice R. Greenberg 
Me1 Karmazin 
David H. Komansky 
Sir Colin Marshall 
lleryck C. Maughan 
Alex Trotman 
Linda J. Wachner 

ZOO0 (As of June 2000) 

Compensation Committee 
Kenneth G. Langone - Chair 
Charles J. Bocklet Jr. 
Richard S. Fuld Jr. 
Maurice R. Greenberg 
Me1 Karmazin 
David H. Komansky 
Alex Trotman 
Linda J. Wachner 

Other Boa 
Geoffrey C. Bible 
~ h a r l e s j .  Bocklet Jr. 
J. Gary Bwkhead 
Stephen M. Case 
Michel A. David-Weill 
James M. Duryea 
Benjamin H. Griswold IV 

Other Boa 
Geoffery C. Bible 
s tephe i~ .  Case 
Michel A. David-Weill 
James M. Duryea 
Gerald M. Levin 
H. Carl McCall 
George C. McNamee 

Other Boa 
Geofferv C. Bible 
~ t e ~ h e ; ~ .  Case 
Michel A. David-Weill 
James M. Duryea 
Peter N. Larson 
Gerald M. Levin 
H. Carl McCall 
George C. McNamee 

Members 
Gerald M. Levin 
Robert M. Murphy 
Leon E. Panetta 
William B. Summers, Jr. 
Clifton R. Wharton, Jr. 
Kathryn J. Whitmire 

I Members 
Joseph A. Mahoney 
~ o b &  M. Murphy 
Leon E. Panetta 
Henry M. Paulson, Jr. 
William B. Summers, Jr. 
Clifton R. Wharton, Jr. 
Kathryn J. Whitmire 

1 Members 
Joseph A. Mahoney 
Robert M. Murphy 
Leon E. Panetta 
Hemy M. Paukon, Jr. 
Joe L. Roby 
Juergen E. Schrempp 
William B. Summers, Jr. 
Kathryn J. Whitmire 
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2001 (As of June 2001) 

Compensation Committee 
Kenneth G. Langone - Chair 
Richard S. Fuld Jr. 
Maurice R. Greenberg 
Me1 Karmazin 
David H. Komansky 
Gerald M. Levin 
Robert M. Murphy 
Alex Trotman 

2002 (As of June 2002) 

Compensation Committee 
Kenneth G. Langone - Chair 
James E. Caqne 
Laurence D. Fink 
Me1 Karmazin 
David H. Komansky 
Gerald M. Levin 
Robert M. Murphy 
Henry M. Paulson, Jr. 
Juergen E. Schrempp 

!003 (As of June 2003) 

Compensation Committee 
Kenneth G. Langone - Chair 
J. Carl McCall -Chair 

:Beginning July 2003) 
Herbert M. Allison, Jr. 
Laurence D. Fink 
Me1 Karmazin 
Gerald M. Levin 
Robert M. Murphy 
Juergen E. Schrempp 

Other I 
Michael A. Carpenter 
James M. Duryea 
William B. Harrison, Jr. 
Peter N. Larson 
H. Carl McCall 
George C. McNamee 
Joseph A. Mahoney 
Jean-Marie Messier 

Other I 
Carol Bartz 
Michael A. Carpenter 

(Until September 2002) 
James M. Duryea 
William B. Harrison, Jr. 
Peter N. Larson 
H. Carl McCall 
George C. McNamee 
John J. Mack 

Other I 
Madeline K. Albright - 
Carol Bartz 
James E. Cayne 
James M. Duryea 
Robert B. Fagenson 
William B. Harrison Jr. 
Andrea Jung 
Peter N. Larson 
H. Carl McCall 

7 
Board 

1 Board 

1 Board 

l Members 
Leon E. Panetta 
Henry M. Paulson, Jr. 
Christopher C. Quick 
Joe L. Roby 
Juergen E. Schrempp 
Larry W. Sonsini 
William B. Summers, Jr. 

l Members 
Joseph A. Mahoney 
Jean-Marie Messier 

vnti l  December 2002) 
Leon E. Panetta 
Christopher C. Quick 

L a r r y  W. Sonsini 
Martha Stewart 

[June 2002 - October 2002) 
William B. Summers, Jr. 

l Members 
George C. McNamee 
John J. Mack 
Robert M. Murphy 
E. Stanley O'Neal 
Henry M. Paulson, Jr. 
Philip 3. Purcell 
Christopher C. Quick 
Larry W. Sonsini 
William B. Summers, Jr. 
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